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D E D I C A T I O N  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Michael W. Downing 
Rockingham County High Sheriff 

 
Michael "Mike" Downing was the 39th High Sheriff of Rockingham County, an office first filled in 1683.  
He was first elected as High Sheriff in 2010, and re-elected in 2012 and 2014. Strengthening the 
department's relationship with local police agencies and sharing resources to save taxpayer dollars were 
among Downing's priorities during his tenure.   
 
Sheriff Downing had a long history of public service.  He served the citizens of New Hampshire as a State 
Trooper for eight years; he was a member of the 82nd Military Police Company and the 82nd Airborne 
US Army; he served the citizens of Salem for 11 years as a Police Officer; he served as a Military Aid to 
former NH Governor Jeanne Shaheen; he served six years as a State Representative; and later he served 
four years in the NH State Senate as a Senator and Minority Leader.   
 
Downing’s service extended to many organizations, and included his role as the 301st Captain 
Commanding of the Ancient and Honorable Artillery Company of Massachusetts, ASA Softball Coach, 
Salem Little League Coach, Knights of Columbus, Trustee of AMVETS Post #2, Past Chairman of 
Salemhaven Nursing Home and Silverthorne Adult Daycare, Rockingham County Law Enforcement 
Association, Rockingham County Chief of Police Association, International Association of Chiefs of 
Police, National Sheriffs’ Association,  and NH Sheriffs’ Association.  He was also a founding board 
member of Isaiah 58, a nonprofit organization focused on the homeless population of Rockingham 
County.  
 
Rockingham County High Sheriff Michael W. Downing passed away on Friday, April 17, 2015.  He is 
remembered by family and friends as a kind and loving son, husband, father, grandfather, brother, and 
uncle.  He is deeply missed, and it is hoped that the citizens of New Hampshire will remember him as a 
dedicated public servant.  





http://www.facebook.com/pages/Rockingham-County/104719886244742
http://www.twitter.com/rockinghamco


























































































Rep. Major, Chairman, recognized Commissioner Coyle who provided an overview of the 2014 County 
budget, as well as the union contact cost items.  He noted that the Commissioners are not requesting any 
additional dollars to fund the union contract cost items and that they intend to transfer money within the 
budget to cover the additional costs of $200,000 in the 2014 budget.  He introduced Attorney Elizabeth 
Bailey, who represented the County in the negotiations process. Attorney Bailey briefly explained.   
 
Rep. Major, Chairman, recognized Rep. Birdsell, Chair of the Salary Subcommittee, who read the report 
and recommendations of the Salary Subcommittee that includes a 3 percent increase in the pay plan and 
approval of proposed benefits with the exception of the Wellness Program funded at $10,000 which was 
eliminated. She noted a downgrade of a part-time position in the Jail and the addition of a full-time 
Electronic Monitoring Coordinator. Also, not recommended was a request from the County Attorney’s 
Office for a regrade from Victim Witness Advocate to Director, Victim Witness Advocate. Rep. Birdsell 
noted that the Executive Committee voted to support the recommendation of the Salary Subcommittee.    
 
Rep. Cali-Pitts expressed concern about the $200,000 to fund union contract cost items and questioned 
where the money could be found in the budget.  She asked if the Commissioners intend to cut personnel. 
Commissioner Coyle stated that the Commissioners do not intend to cut any more positions. He stated 
that the Commissioners will ask for transfers within the budget.       
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Griffin who read the following resolutions:   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Griffin who made a motion to approve Resolution 1 – 2014 as follows:  
 

RESOLUTION 1 – 2014 
Be it resolved that the Rockingham County Convention accept the position listing as presented with the 
total number of authorized positions for 2014 being 630 and that there will be no new positions created 
nor will there be any re-grading of positions or increase of number of positions, other than those 
budgeted, without approval of the Executive Committee.   
 
It is understood that the Executive Committee need not approve any personnel change proposed by the 
County that results in placing the authorized position in the same or lower grade.  Further, that the County 
must notify the Executive Committee at each quarterly meeting of any changes that may have been 
processed in order to provide an update to the accepted position listing. 
 
In addition, it is understood that part-time employment pools are approved in the Nursing Home, Jail, and 
Sheriff’s Department, and that the pools be used for on-call coverage when necessary.  In no case will any 
on-call employee be eligible for any benefit or permanent employment status.  This does not preclude any 
department from obtaining temporary help from outside vendors to cover employment leave. 
 
Rep. Weyler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 

RESOLUTION 2 – 2014 
Be it resolved that the Rockingham County Convention, upon the recommendation of the Executive 
Committee, recommend $310,000 for a 3 percent gross increase or non-discretionary bonus for those 
employees who are on the pay plan.  In addition, the mileage reimbursement rate continues to mirror the 
Federal rate for 2014.   
 
Rep. Waterhouse seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 
 

 

2014 Rockingham County Annual Report Page  46 of 145











Therefore be it Resolved:  That pursuant to RSA 24:14, I, the County Convention, hereby 
authorize a line item budget that the County Commissioners obtain prior written approval from 
the Executive Committee before transferring to or from any line once the aggregate over-
expenditure in any line item reaches $1,000.  The County Commissioners are required to identify 
the line items whose appropriations will be reduced to cover the over-expenditure and obtain 
written approval from the Executive Committee before transferring to or from any line item.  In 
any event, no department shall over-spend their department’s bottom line, nor shall they split 
expenditures among budget lines in order to avoid a line item transfer without the Executive 
Committee’s approval. 
 

Rep. Waterhouse seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 

RESOLUTION 7 – 2014 
 

The Finance Office has the authority to make periodic transfers from appropriate budget lines to insure 
that the health, buyout, HRA and compensated absences benefit lines properly reflect the status of the 
accounts during the year. 

 

Rep. Kappler seconded the motion. The motion was approved by a voice vote.  

 
RESOLUTION 8 – 2014 

 
All amounts appropriated for the Non-County Specials to be paid on a quarterly basis subject to the 
approval of the majority of the Board of County Commissioners.  Such amounts shall be paid as 
appropriated unless changes are discussed and approved at Executive Committee Meetings. 
 
Further, all agencies are required to submit a quarterly financial review describing activities for the prior 
quarter and their relationship to county funds distributed.  These reports shall be submitted to the 
Rockingham County Finance Office prior to any distribution of subsequent quarterly payments. 

Rep. Waterhouse seconded the motion. The motion was approved by a voice vote.  

 
RESOLUTION 9 – 2014 

 
Be it resolved that County audits under RSA 24:13, 28:3-a, 24:14, and 24:26, shall not be conducted nor 
expenditure of such authorized without the prior approval of the Executive Committee. 

Rep. Kappler seconded the motion. The motion was approved by a voice vote.  

Rep. Griffin read the figures for Resolution 10-2014 that were provided by Ms. Nikitas, Deputy Finance 
Officer, as follows:   

RESOLUTION 10 – 2014 

That the Rockingham County Convention, in accordance with RSA 24:13, authorize $78,537,624 in 
appropriations and $157,933 in reserves and encumbrances for the use of the County during 2014.    That 
$44,809,156 be raised in new county taxes; that $29,150,467 be accepted as an estimate of revenues from 
other sources, and that $4,735,934 is accepted as fund balance for a total of $78,695,557 in resources. 

Rep. Major recognized Rep. Rice who questioned why the numbers the Delegation had before them were 
different than what the Executive Committee had recommended for approval on February 21, 2014.  He 
noted that there were no changes made to the budget to support a change.  Rep. Abrami also questioned.  
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Ms. Young referred the members to the summary page of the budget and column entitled 2013 
Encumbrances/Reserves Delegation in the amount of $157,933.  Chairman Major noted that the 
Encumbrances/Reserves that were provided to the Executive Committee at the February 21, 2014 meeting 
were reported as zero, and that the revised number of $157,933 in encumbrances/reserves was not brought 
to the attention of the Executive Committee for approval. .         

Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 

RESOLUTION 11-2014 
 

Be it resolved that the departmental budget requests be included with the Commissioners recommended 
budget proposals.  

Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 

 

RESOLUTION 12-2014 
 

As the appropriating authority of county government, the Rockingham County Convention must have the 
tools available to monitor the spending that it has approved.  In accordance with RSA 28:3-a, 24:13, 
24:14, and 24:16 ALL audits must be approved by the Executive Committee of the County Convention.  
The Convention must be represented at both final meetings of the auditor with the department, and the 
Executive Committee must receive a sufficient number of copies of the final report. 
 
Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 

 
RESOLUTION 13-2014 

 
Be it resolved, that the Rockingham County Convention goes on record as being opposed to the closure of 
the Rockingham County Adult Medical Day Care Program by the County Commissioners, contrary to the 
unanimous vote of the Rockingham County Executive Committee, which benefited many of our elderly 
citizens that required the services the County’s AMDC Program.  Further, that the County Convention 
urge the Commissioners to come up with a plan to restore the AMDC Program for 2015. 
 
Rep. Waterhouse seconded the motion.  Rep. Cali-Pitts wanted to know the intent of the resolution.  Rep. 
Weyler noted that the language is a strongly supported request of the Executive Committee and 
Delegation.  Rep. Major commented that it send a message to the Commissioners as the Delegation 
cannot force them to do their job.  Rep. Abrami questioned is there is funding in the budget.  Rep. Major 
explained that there is no funding.  The Commissioners closed the program and got rid of the employees 
and participants.  Rep. DeSimone commented that we are asking the Commissioners to reconsider.  More 
importantly, we are going on record that will stay in the county’s records for many years that the 
delegates were not in favor or the closure and they would like to reopen the program.  Commissioner 
Tombarello stated that he did not vote to close the program and he would like it to go on record.  Rep. 
Flockhart commentd that when the delegation funds a program we expect that the funding will be spent 
on that program.  She stated that she would like it to come back.  Commissioner Coyle stated that the 
program was underutilized for years and it lost millions of dollars for a decade and now private business 
have benefited directly from the closure.  He stated that it is not a program that is viable for the county 
and that this was determined by a previous legislative subcommittee.  Rep. Major commented that he has 
heard this statement used by the Commissioners many times and he spoke to the legislator who was the 
subcommittee chairman in previous years and that the statement is not true.    There were no further 
questions.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
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RESOLOTION 14-2014 
 

Submission deadline for all requests for approval for the Rockingham County Convention and/or 
Executive Committee must be submitted to the Delegation Coordinator at least 5 business before the 
meeting. 
 
Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 

 
RESOLUTION 15-2014 

 
By the action of approving this budget, the County Convention hereby appropriates the monies shown 
line by line item of the 2014 budget with the exception of the contingency items to include audit lines and 
grants which will be appropriated by the County Convention Executive Committee as the appropriate 
specific billing is presented. 
 
These resolutions are supporting and backup information to the 2014 Rockingham County Budget and are 
an integral part of said budget. 

 

Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote.  

Union Contract Cost Items  

Chairman Major recognized Attorney Elizabeth Bailey who represented the County on the five union 
contracts that were ratified. Ms. Bailey provided an overview.   

Chairman Major recognized Rep. Mary Griffin who made a motion to approve the following: 

 
 Rockingham County Deputy Sheriffs Union for the period ending 12/31/2016 Cost Items 
 
Motion: In accordance with RSA 273-A:3, I move that the Rockingham County Convention approve the 
cost items as recommended by the Executive Committee and reflected in the document titled 
“Rockingham County Sheriff’s Deputy Union Cost Items” prepared by Finance.   
 
Cost items for the three year contract ending 12/31/2016 total approximately $5,254,856.  
 
Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 
Rockingham County Dispatchers Union for the period ending 12/31/2016 Cost Items 
 
Motion: In accordance with RSA 273-A:3, I move that the Rockingham County Convention approve the 
cost items as recommended by the Executive Committee and reflected in the document titled 
“Rockingham County Dispatch Cost Items” created by Finance.   
 
Cost items for the three year contract ending 12/31/2016 total approximately $3,300,142.  
 
Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 
Supervisory employees of the Rockingham County Department of Corrections for the period 
ending 12/31/2016 Cost Items 
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Motion: In accordance with RSA 273-A:3, I move that the Rockingham County Convention approve the 
cost items as recommended by the Executive Committee and reflected in the document titled 
“Rockingham County Correction Supervisor Cost Items” created by Finance.   
 
Cost items for the three year contract ending 12/31/2016 total approximately $4,447,424.  
 
Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 
Employees of the Rockingham County Department of Engineering and Maintenance Services for 
the period ending 12/31/2016 Cost Items 
 
Motion: In accordance with RSA 273-A:3, I move that the Rockingham County Convention approve the 
cost items as recommended by the Executive Committee and reflected in the document titled 
“Rockingham County MNTC Cost Items” created by Finance.   
 
Cost items for the three year contract ending 12/31/2016 total approximately $3,913,748.  
 
Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.   The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 
Legal assistant and paralegal employees of the Rockingham County Attorney’s Office for the 
period ending 12/31/2016 Cost Items 
 
Motion: In accordance with RSA 273-A:3, I move that the Rockingham County Convention approve the 
cost items as recommended by the Executive Committee and reflected in the document titled 
“Rockingham County Legal Assistants Cost Items” created by Finance.   
 
Cost items for the three year contract ending 12/31/2016 total approximately $1,785,270.  
 
Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 
Other Business: 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Donna Schlachman who explained that she had heard concern by some 
employees at the public hearing about the Human Resources/Finance Study, so she contacted the two 
consultants who were involved in the study (Gallagher and Matrix) and requested information from the 
Commissioners under the Right to Know law.  She provided an overview of her findings and explained 
that because RFP’s had two dates on them, she requested the two contracts.  She found that there was no 
contact from Gallagher so she contacted them and spoke with the project manager.  She noted that she 
was also surprised that the project was suspended by a telephone call from an employee at the County.  
She noted that she did gather that there were some issues. Also, the company traveled from Illinois on two 
separate visits and spent a lot of time at the County, but she was told that they were never paid.  She then 
contacted Matrix who currently has a contract for the the study and they are behind because they are 
waiting to interview new employees in the Finance Department.  She expressed concern in what she 
referred to as the “non-contract” contract.  Also, on the County’s website, there were no minutes and no 
meeting dates and times or agendas, but reported that this is no longer the case.  You can go on the 
Commissioners page and view them.  She raised the issue of posting the minutes in a timely manner and 
reported that they were all approved at once in the first week of January.  She noted that these are her 
concerns in the process.   
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Rep. Major asked Rep. Schlachman is she received the contract from Gallagher.  She explained that an 
RFP was open in a public meeting on May 1, 2013 and was announced on May 15 that Gallagher was 
awarded the contract.   She stated that it is her understanding that there was no contract.  
 
Rep. Major commented about problems he had encountered with getting information from the 
Commissioners on their meetings and agenda.  He noted that it is only fair that this information be 
available to legislators and Chairmen of County Departments and should be informed. 
 
Rep. Rice commented referring to multiple cases of things being done by the Commissioners with no 
apparent procedure.  He referred to the issues as being inappropriate, irregular, and perhaps illegal.  He 
questioned if the Delegation is going to do something about it, and questioned if we should get the 
attorney general’s office involved.  He commented that he feels these issues should be investigated.  He 
referred to the Gallagher arrangement and questioned who gave them the authority to do the work.  He 
raised concern of the County’s exposure to a lawsuit.  
 
Rep. Weyler commented referring to adjustments made in the budget that all audit money from the 
general government section of the budget was moved to the Delegation budget, and also the resolutions 
that were approved to tighten controls.  Rep. Cali-Pitts commented that she is in favor of this and noted 
that we as a Delegation need to be accountable as well.   
 
Rep. McMahon commented referring to the interpretation of the law authorizing that information come 
before the Executive Committee.  He questioned is the Delegation should obtain a legal opinion hearing 
concern that the Commissioners are not complying with the statutes.  He referred to people not showing 
up at the county because they feel disenfranchised.  Rep. Major commented referring to additional money 
appropriated into the legal fees line. He noted that the Delegation has a lot of work to do.  He explained 
the Delegation’s role to vote appropriations for a specific cause, and the Commissioner’s responsibility to 
come before the Executive Committee for approval if they want to move money within the budget.       
  
Rep. Abrami questioned if there was or was not a contract for Gallagher.  Commissioner Coyle responded 
that there was not.  He noted that they would not sign it.  He explained that the company changed their 
staffing and they were not being effective, so the Commissioners terminated their services. Rep. Major 
questioned why it took all this time to get the appropriate answer.  Commissioner Coyle responded that it 
is because you never asked.  Rep. Major commented about being very specific. 
 
Rep. DeSimone commented that she did contact the Attorney General’s Office and they suggested that we 
make the language in the statutes stronger due to the fact that they can be easily misinterpreted.  
 
Rep. Copeland informed the members that Mr. Stoughton, IT Director, will be retiring in April, and 
thanked Mr. Stoughton for his years of service at the County.  
 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 8:06 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Cheryl A. Hurley 
Delegation Coordinator 
 
Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk 
Rockingham County Delegation 
 
KW:cah  
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MINUTES 
ROCKINGHAM COUNTY 
DELEGATION MEETING 

Thursday, May 15, 2014 
Hilton Auditorium 

Rockingham County Nursing Home 
Brentwood NH 

 
The members of the Rockingham County Delegation met on Thursday, May 15, 2014 in the Hilton 
Auditorium at the Rockingham County Nursing Home in Brentwood, NH.  The purpose of the meeting 
was to vote the Salaries and Benefits for Elected Officials for the Term of Office 2015/2016.  
 
Rep. Norman L. Major, Chairman, called the meeting to order at 6:08 p.m. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who provided the Invocation.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Fesh who led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Rep. Major recognized Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk, who conducted the roll call.  Rep. Waterhouse 
reported a total of 53 members present. 
 
Chairman Major declared that a quorum was present. 
  
Those present were:  Rep. Norman L. Major, Chairman; Representatives Abrami, Allen, Belanger, 
Birdsell, Cahill, Cali-Pitts, Charron, Comerford, Copeland, Cushing, DeSimone, Devine, Duarte, Elliott, 
Emerick, Ferrante, Fesh, M. Garcia, Gordon, Griffin, Hagan, Harris, Heffron, Helmsetter, Hodgden, 
Hoelzel, Introne, Itse, Kappler, Kolodziej, Lovejoy, Mann, McKinney, McMahon, Milz, Moody, 
Nigrello,  O’Connor, Pantelakos, Priestley, Sanders, Schlachman, Sedensky, St. James, Sytek, Till, Ward, 
Waterhouse, Wazlaw, Webb, Weyler, and Whittemore.  Rep. Rice arrived late. 
  
Also Present:  Commissioners Coyle and Tombarello; Edward Buck, Treasurer; Cathy Stacey, Registrar 
of Deeds; Sheriff Michael Downing, High Sheriff; George Millot, Human Resources; Theresa Young, 
Finance Officer; Cheryl A. Hurley, Delegation Coordinator. 
 
Excused:  Reps. Bishop, Dumaine, B.R. Garcia; Hayes, Muns, Sapareto, Sherman. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who read the report from the Salary Subcommittee dated May 
5, 2014.  Rep. Weyler highlighted the significant findings. He noted that the elected officials have not 
received a pay raise since 2008, and reviewed the raises given to county and union employees.  He 
referred to the comparable rates of pay in other counties.  He explained that almost all the elected officials 
have subordinates/deputies who are paid more than the elected officials.  He explained that the Chair of 
the Board of Commissioners in other counties are also paid at a higher rate.  Rep. Weyler made a motion 
to approve the report and presented.  Rep. Griffin seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a 
voice vote.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Griffin read the proposed resolution by the Executive Committee as 
follows: 
 
Be it resolved that the Rockingham County Convention, in accordance with RSA 23:7 Establishing 
Compensation, and RSA 655:14 Filing: General Provisions, approve the following Salaries and Benefits 
for Elected Officials for the Term of Office 2015/2016: 
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Treasurer – $6,500 
County Attorney – $89,250 
High Sheriff – $70,350 
Registrar of Deeds – $65,100 
Board of Commissioners - $19,750 
Chair, Board of Commissioners - $21,000 

 
 
Benefits for County Attorney, High Sheriff, Registrar of Deeds, and Board of Commissioners: 
 
• Health/Dental/Buy-out to mirror the County’s single, 2-person, family, non-union employee cost 

share.  
 
• Mileage payments at current federal rate (except for officials who use a county provided vehicle 

which includes gasoline provided by the county). 
 
• Retirement Plan per state statutes.  
 
Rep. Belanger made a motion to amend the resolution to increase the Registrar of Deeds Salary as 
follows:  $65,000 in 2015, and $70,000 in 2016.  Rep. Elliott seconded the motion.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Abrami who spoke in favor of the amendment referring to his 
experience as a member of the Deeds Subcommittee.  He noted that the office is the most efficient in the 
state and the individual’s salary is well below that of the deputy.   
 
Rep. Major recognized Rep. DeSimone who suggested a total of $10,000 be given this year.  She 
commented that the Registry of Deeds is the only department in the county that makes the county money 
speaking from her experience as a tax collector.  Rep. DeSimone amended the motion to raise the salary 
to $70,000 for the next election.  Rep. Copeland seconded the motion.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts who suggested that the salaries for elected officials be frozen.  
She explained that the state, cities, and towns in the County are financially in trouble.  She referred to the 
comments made about the individual, not the position.  She also noted that there is not a shortage of 
individuals running for the positions. She noted that there is no shortage of individuals running for the 
positions. She referred to the language in the RSA’s that say “we may” not must.  She referred to the 
recent closure of the Day Care, the issue of proposing a charge to the cities and towns for dispatch.  
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Sytek who spoke against the amendment.  He commented that he is in 
favor of accepting the Salary Subcommittee’s recommendation and referred to it as a reasonable plan.  He 
explained that he does not feel that it is appropriate to throw away the subcommittee’s recommendation, 
and commented that he will vote with the subcommittee and vote against the amendment. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Pantelakos who commented that the delegation every two years has a 
discussion about increasing the salaries and does not vote the increase.  She commented that this is the 
time to vote an increase, especially for the Registrar of Deeds. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Itse who referred to the spreadsheet provided to the members.  In 
summary, he noted that the elected officials in Rockingham County make more than the elected officials 
in other counties.  He commented that he could not vote for an increase referring to his neighbors who 
have lost their jobs.   
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Chairman Major recognized Rep. Moody who commented that legislators have taken a pledge across the 
board to not increase taxes.  She noted that as a taxpayer she could not vote in favor of the amendment.   
  
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kolodziej who commented that he is not in favor of increasing the 
salary by $10,000 but would like to vote on the recommendation of the 5 percent increase. 
. 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Duarte who expressed his concerns.  He noted that the Board of 
Commissioners salaries are higher than those paid in other counties on the list commenting that he would 
vote against the recommendation.  Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who explained that they are 
higher paid because we do not have a county administrator.   That was the reason for the subcommittee’s 
decision. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Schlachman who commented on the fact that Deputies and 
Subordinates have job descriptions and qualifications.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kolodziej who questioned the pay of other employees. Rep. Weyler 
explained the delegation is charged with setting the salary for the two-year term and the fact that 
subordinates have the potential of getting raises annually.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cahill who expressed concern with giving raises to elected officials 
with taxpayer money.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Charron who explained the disparity of the difference in pay in elected 
officials and employees.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Belanger who commented referring to Rep. Cali-Pitts comments and 
reiterated the reason for his motion.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts who explained there are no qualifications to run for the office.  
She commented that it is not personal, it is about the position.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. M. Garcia who commented noting that the comments being made are 
not constructive.  She spoke about the need to separate the individuals from the position and asked that 
we discuss it objectively.   
 
Chairman Major referred to the motion made by Rep. DeSimone, seconded by Copeland, to increase the 
Registrar of Deeds Salary to $70,000. 
. 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Harris who commented in favor of Rep. Cali-Pitts and suggested that 
we recognize the position, not the individual, and establish the compensation for the job of the Registrar 
of Deeds. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Abrami who commented in favor of the individuals in the position and 
the fact that we would want her to continue to run for office.  He referred to the fact that the money spent 
will save the county money in the long run.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Ferrante who commented that if the individual does not run and the 
next person who gets elected has no experience, do we have to maintain this increase.  Chairman Major 
explained yes.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who requested a roll call.   
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Chairman Major suggested that we conduct the vote without a roll call.  Those in favor say yes, not in 
favor say no. 
    
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Elliott who suggested a raise of hands.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kolodziej who requested a roll call.    
 
Chairman Major restated the motion. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who conducted the roll call.  The motion failed 33 to 20.    
 
Chairman Major restated the motion proposed by the Executive Committee.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cushing who questioned the subcommittee’s recommendations on not 
given the Treasurer a raise.   Rep. Weyler explained that it is a part-time position and the Treasurer did 
not ask for a raise.   
   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cushing who questioned if the subcommittee looked at this.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who noted that the position is part-time and individuals are 
interested in running for the office, and we did not feel it was necessary to raise the salary to run for that 
office.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cushing who made a motion to recommend an increase in Treasurer’s 
salary by 5 percent.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the motion. 
   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who commented that we chose not to recommend an 
increase.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cahill who offered an amendment to raise the elected official’s salaries.  
by 2 percent, not 5.   
   
   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cushing who suggested the Treasurer’s salary be increased to $6,825.   
Rep. Pantelakos seconded the motion.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Sytek spoke against the amendment and noted that we should respect 
the work of the Salary Subcommittee.  He spoke as a former Treasurer in Salem for 10 years, referring to 
the position as a ceremonial job. 
   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. DeSimone who commented that it is not fair to separate the positions 
from part-time to full-time. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Rice who stated that all the elected officials should receive the same 
increase referring to it as a sensible personnel policy.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Wazlaw who questioned whether it is responsible to turn down the 
Salary Subcommittee recommendations and have them return with a new one, speaking in support of the 
Salary Subcommittee’s recommendations. 
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Chairman Major restated the motion as follows:  Those in favor of increasing the Treasurer’s salary by 5 
percent raise their hands.  Rep. Weyler counted the show of hands.  The motion failed. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cahill who made a motion to increase the salaries for all elected 
officials by 2.5 percent, as opposed to 5 percent. Rep. Itse seconded the motion.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Sytek who was opposed, and suggested that the members support the 
recommendations of the subcommittee.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Heffron who questioned how the deputy’s salaries got so high and 
suggested that we take a look at this.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Mann who spoke in opposition who commented the individuals run and 
compete for the positions, and referred to the small towns in the county that do not see the value of county 
government.   
   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Till who commented that she is not in favor of supporting any raises.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who noted that there have been no raises in 6 years, noting 
that 5 percent is a wonderful compromise, and spoke in opposition to the 2.5 percent. 
. 
Chairman Major restated the motion to increase the elected officials’ salaries by 2.5 percent for those 
positions that the Salary Subcommittee proposed 5. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Belanger who stated that he would vote not and support the 
recommendations of the Salary Subcommittee. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. DeSimone who made a motion to move the question.  Rep. Copeland 
seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote.  
 
Chairman Major restated the motion to increase the elected officials’ salaries by 2.5 percent for those who 
were voted a 5 percent increase by the Salary Subcommittee.  A show of hands revealed 13 in favor. The 
motion failed.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kappler who made a motion to remove the $1,250 increase for the 
Chair of the Board of Commissioners.  Rep. Schlachman seconded the motion.  Rep. Kappler spoke to his 
motion who explained that he does not feel that the position of chair should get an increase over the other 
two Commissioner positions who also take on leadership and chairmanship roles.   
 
Chairman Major restated Rep. Kappler’s motion to recommend the Chair of the Board of Commissioners 
salary at $19,700.  The vote was 26 in favor and 21 opposed.  The motion passes.        
 
Chairman Major restated the motion as follows: 
 
Be it resolved that the Rockingham County Convention, in accordance with RSA 23:7 Establishing 
Compensation, and RSA 655:14 Filing: General Provisions, approve the following Salaries and Benefits 
for Elected Officials for the Term of Office 2015/2016: 
 

Treasurer – $6,500 
County Attorney – $89,250 
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High Sheriff – $70,350 
Registrar of Deeds – $65,100 
Board of Commissioners - $19,750 

 
Benefits for County Attorney, High Sheriff, Registrar of Deeds, and Board of Commissioners: 
 
• Health/Dental/Buy-out to mirror the County’s single, 2-person, family, non-union employee cost 

share.  
 
• Mileage payments at current federal rate (except for officials who use a county provided vehicle 

which includes gasoline provided by the county). 
 
• Retirement Plan per state statutes.  
 
The motion was approved 34 in favor, 15 opposed.   
 
Chairman Major informed the members that he has received a request from the Board of Commissioners 
to approve the union contract cost items for the Sheriff’s Supervisors and announced that there will be a 
Public Hearing on Thursday, May 22, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. with an Executive Committee Meeting to follow 
and a Delegation Meeting to approve the cost items on Wednesday, June 4, 2014 during session lunch 
break or after session at the Legislative Office Building in Concord.   
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:20 p.m 
 
.Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Cheryl A. Hurley      Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk 
Delegation Coordinator     Rockingham County Delegation 
 
KW: cah 
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PUBLIC HEARING 
Thursday, May 22, 2014 

7:00 p.m. 
Hilton Auditorium 

Rockingham County Nursing Home 
Brentwood NH  

 
The Chairman of the Rockingham County Convention held a Public Hearing on Thursday, May 22, 2014 
at 7:00 p.m. in the Hilton Auditorium at the Rockingham County Nursing Home in Brentwood, NH.  The 
purpose of the meeting was to review the union contract cost items for the Rockingham County Sheriff’s 
Supervisors.   
 
Chairman Major called the Public Hearing to order at 7:01 p.m.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who delivered the Invocation. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who led the Pledge of Allegiance.   
 
Chairman Major reviewed the ground rules for the Public Hearing. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Elizabeth Bailey, from the Law Office of Sheehan, Phinney, Bass and Green, 
who explained the cost items associated with the union contract for the Sheriff’s Supervisors.   Ms. Bailey 
explained that the bargaining unit includes a total of 10 employees; the positions being 4 deputy sheriffs, 
4 dispatchers, 1 radio technician, and 12 network administrator, with one open position at the present 
time.  She referred to the spreadsheet prepared by Finance.  She noted that the costs are spread out over a 
three-year period and explained the additional cost associated with the agreement which includes a 3 
percent increase in salaries and a total of 2.8 million dollars for the contract costs.  Commissioner Pratt 
confirmed that the amount to cover the contract costs would be found in the budget.    
  
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts who noted confusion regarding the percentages.  Ms. Bailey 
explained.   Ms. Young also explained referring to adjustments.  Rep. Cali-Pitts noted that it appears from 
the spreadsheet that the increases will be over 4 percent and questioned if this was accurate.  Ms. Young 
responded yes.  Rep. Cali-Pitts questioned where in the Sheriff’s budget the money was coming from to 
fund the contract costs. Ms. Young explained that the Commissioners are committed to finding the money 
in the budget.  Rep. O’Connor questioned.  Sergeant Scott Pelletier, from Kingston, also explained. Ms. 
Young noted that there is an open sergeant position that is actively being filled.  Rep. O’Connor had a 
follow-up question.   Ms. Bailey explained.   
 
Rep. Devine questioned the maximum raise amount of 3 individuals.  Ms. Young confirmed that it an 
additional 3 percent.  Rep. Devine also questioned the timeline for short-term disability.  Ms. Bailey 
explained that it is a 26-week benefit.  Ms. Young further explained the costs associated with the benefit.   
 
Chairman Major called for questions.  There were none. 
 
The Public Hearing adjourned at 7:15 p.m.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Cheryl A. Hurley 
Delegation Coordinator 
 
Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk 
Rockingham County Delegation 
KW:cah 

2014 Rockingham County Annual Report Page  62 of 145



MINUTES 
ROCKINGHAM COUNTY  
DELEGATION MEETING 

Monday, June 30, 2014 
9:30 a.m. 

Hilton Auditorium 
Rockingham County Nursing Home 

Brentwood, NH 
 
The members of the Rockingham County Delegation held a meeting on Monday, June 30, 2014 at 9:30 
a.m. in the Hilton Auditorium at the Rockingham County Nursing Home in Brentwood, NH.  The purpose 
of the meeting was to discuss and act on the vacancy of County Attorney per RSA 661:9. 
 
Norman L. Major, Chairman, called the meeting to order at 9:31 a.m. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kenneth L. Weyler who delivered the Invocation. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Gene Charron who led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk, who conducted the roll call.   
 
Those in attendance were: Rep. Norman L. Major, Chairman; Representatives Allen, Belanger, Birdsell, 
Cahill, Cali-Pitts, Charron, Chirichiello, Copeland, Cushing, Danais, Devine, Duarte, Elliott, Emerick, 
Ferrante, Fesh, Flockhart, Griffin, Hagan, Harris, Helmstetter, Hodgdon, Hoelzel, Introne, Itse, Kappler, 
Kolodziej, Lovejoy, McKinney, McMahon, Milz, Moody, Muns, Nigrello, O’Connor, Pantelakos, 
Perkins, Priestley, Sanders, Sapareto, Sedensky, St. James, Sweeney, Sytek, Tasker, Till, Tucker, Ward, 
Waterhouse, Wazlaw, Weyler, and Whittemore.    
 
Excused:  Reps. Bick, Bishop, Borden, Burtis, Comerford, DeSimone, Mann, Norelli, Oligny, Peckham, 
Rice, Schlachman, Sherman, and Webb. 
 
Clerk Waterhouse reported a total of 53 members present at the time the roll was called. 
 
Chairman Major declared that a quorum was present.  Chairman Major provided an overview of the 
events leading up to Attorney Reams’ retirement.  He explained that he, as Chairman of the Delegation, 
and Rep. Charron, Chairman of the Executive Committee, received a letter from Attorney James Reams, 
dated June 16, 2014, notifying them of his retirement.  This created a vacancy in the County Attorney 
position.  He explained that he had requested a copy of the agreement between Attorney Reams and the 
Commissioners subsequent to the letter.  With that information in hand, he scheduled an Officer’s 
Meeting on June 19, 2014 to discuss the vacancy, at which time RSA 661:9 was reviewed which requires 
the Delegation to either vote to fill or not to fill the vacancy in an elected official’s position if the vacancy 
if less than a year.  With 86 members presently on the Delegation, it was noted that 44 members would 
need to be present and vote in the affirmative either to fill or not to fill the vacancy to comply with the 
language of a majority vote.   He explained that if the outcome of the vote taken is to fill the vacancy, 
then the Delegation would vote to appoint an individual by a vote of the Delegation present and voting.  
 
He explained that this process that was reviewed and discussed at length at the Officers Meeting.  He also 
explained that the Attorney General’s Office presented the option of sending Assistant Attorney General 
Boffetti to the County Attorney’s Office to handle the prosecutorial and management duties of the County 
Attorney’s Office, due to his past experience with the Office last November when he was appointed to the 
Office by the courts when Attorney Reams was removed from the County Attorney’s Office, as a result of 
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an investigation with the Attorney General’s Office and the FBI.  He explained that the investigation 
ended in April when the Attorney General’s Office and the FBI were not able to charge Attorney Reams, 
at which time Attorney Reams was placed back into Office.  We then learned that an agreement was 
reached between Attorney Reams and the Commissioners, and the Attorney General’s Office was willing 
to send Attorney Boffetti to cover the office until January 2015.  He stated that he, as Chairman of the 
Delegation, was not aware of any upheavals when Attorney Boffetti took over the County Attorney’s 
Office.  The Officers agreed that it is important to maintain stability in the Office. He explained that the 
Officers had a couple of options before them; wait until the election in November at which time the 
newly-elected County Attorney would be sworn into office in January, 2015, or appoint someone to take 
over the Office now and the Delegation would vote to appoint the newly-elected County Attorney after 
the election, who would then resume the Office after being sworn in in January 2015.   
 
Based on the information brought before the Officers, it was recommended that a Memorandum of 
Understanding be created between the Attorney General’s Office and the County to appoint Attorney 
Boffetti to the County Attorney’s Office during this interim period.  The MOU language states that 
Attorney Boffetti would maintain the County Attorney’s Office until the November election or until a 
winner of the election was so noted.   Chairman Major read the MOU and highlighted the areas with the 
greatest importance; one being that Attorney Boffetti’s primary duty will be that of Rockingham County 
Attorney.  He also pointed out that the Officers did not feel comfortable with appointing someone to fill 
the position that is currently working in the Office and is running for that Office in November.   Chairman 
Major explained that Deputy Attorney General Ann Rice attended the  June 25, 2014 Officers Meeting at 
which time it was agreed to draft the MOU to present to the Executive Committee on June 27, 2014, at 
which time the MOU was presented and she was present to answer any questions.         
 
Rep. Waterhouse made a motion to act, pursuant to RSA 661:9, to fill the position of Rockingham County 
Attorney.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the motion.  Rep. Waterhouse spoke to his motion noting that the 
Delegation has choices before them; he strongly suggested that at this point, the Delegation must vote 
unanimously to fill the position.  He explained that after that crucial vote is taken, we can discuss and 
vote on the Memorandum of Understanding.  He asked that the members please join the Executive 
Committee and Officers who feel that the position needs to be filled.      
 
Chairman Major explained that we need a majority of the Delegation, which requires a minimum of 44 
members, to vote to fill the vacancy.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Elliott who referred to article 6 of the MOU.  Specifically, he 
questioned that if Mr. Boffetti is appointed to the County Attorney’s Office, then he will not be 
considered a candidate in the election.  Chairman Major responded yes to Rep. Elliott’s statement.  Rep. 
Major confirmed that Mr. Boffetti does not and will not be appointed to the Office of County Attorney in 
2015.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Belanger who questioned that if Rep. Waterhouse’s motion is approved, 
the Delegation will be open to recommend candidates for the Office.  Chairman Major responded yes. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Sytek who asked what would happen to the Office if we do not fill the 
vacancy.  Rep. Waterhouse explained that the Attorney General’s Office has the oversight in the 
prosecutorial authority.  He explained that the administrative staff works for the Commissioners and he 
does not believe it is good management to leave the Office without someone in charge.  He referred to 
past problems with an attorney, and noted that we need someone with the authority to handle issues and 
stand up for the employees so that they have someone to advocate and stand behind them.      
 
Chairman Major called for further questions.  There were no further questions.     
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Chairman Major instructed Rep. Waterhouse to conduct a roll call vote.  The results of the roll call vote 
were 52 in favor to fill the vacancy and 2 opposed.  The motion passed.    
 
Chairman Major pointed to the next order of business which was the Memorandum of Understanding.  
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Griffin who made the motion to present the MOU as written.  Rep. 
Pantelakos seconded the motion.  Chairman Major opened the floor for discussion.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who stated that he is opposed to the MOU.   He referred to what 
he called the easy way out, which would have been to have the Assistant County Attorney assume the 
position, but that individual left the Office by resigning early in the investigation.  He referred to the 
similarities of the prior vacancy in the Sheriff’s Office.  He explained that Deputy County Attorney Reid 
was convinced to resign, and he believes it was done to intimidate the staff.  He stated that he believes 
that the investigation was wrong and gave Rockingham County bad press.  He stated that he does not 
want to reward bad behavior. He explained that he was the Officer who suggested the MOU.  He 
explained that if the Officers did not agree with his recommendation, they would not have the MOU.  He 
spoke about the Attorney General’s Office and their responsibilities.  He stated that he does not like the 
way they went about the process.  He stated if you vote the MOU, you are rewarding bad behavior. He 
referred to intimidation in the Office. He stated for that reason, he is proposing a retired Judge whose 
name he will present if the members reject the MOU.  He noted that the Judge is willing to fill the 
position until whoever wins the election in November. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Charron who commented that he does not want to let what happened 
yesterday interfere with what should happen today.  He spoke about the criticality of the County 
Attorney’s Office and his familiarity as a former jailer. He noted that we are talking about filling the 
vacancy in the Office with a MOU until the newly elected person takes over.  He stated that he would like 
to clear up the rumors regarding the County Attorney’s Office because he never received a call from 
anyone that there was a problem.  He stated that if the Office was dysfunctional, we would have heard of 
it at this level from the Attorneys’ or the Sheriff.  He urged the members to look at the situation as 
rational as they can.  He explained that the Attorney General’s Office did have a right to come to the 
County Attorney’s Office based on allegations made to his Office.  He referred to the fact that the County 
lost a very good Attorney, Tom Reid, as it is his understanding that he did not want to go through the 
agony of what was to come.  We are looking to approve the MOU and continue with the stability until the 
election.  He noted that people were not afraid to come to take action with the MOU.  He stated that it is 
not the easy way out, but rather the most feasible way to solve the issue.   We need to maintain the 
integrity of the County Attorney’s Office and let the individual who is chosen to take over.   He stated 
that he strongly supports the MOU.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Pantelakos who stated that with all due respect to Rep. Weyler’s 
recommendation that a Judge can assume the position, she does not think the Delegation has the right to 
say that this individual, who we do not know, has the capability to take over the Office.      
 
Chairman Major clarified a previous statement noting that he does not take the easy way out.  The MOU 
was a very necessary document because the Officers recommended a replacement in the Office until the 
November election.  In doing so, we addressed all issue in the MOU and the Officers and the Executive 
Committee agreed to the language in the MOU.   He questioned the administrative ability of a Judge and 
the fact that this would require the Delegation to seek other candidates.  Chairman Major stated that he 
urges the Delegation to support the vast majority of the Officers and Executive Committee and approve 
the MOU. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kappler who stated that he urges the Delegation to vote no on the MOU 
and keep the State out of the County.  He questioned what makes the Assistant Attorney General qualified 
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to do the job.  He suggested why we do not consider the Judge for the position.  He urged the members to 
vote no on the MOU. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Whittemore who had questions for those opposing the MOU.  She 
questioned that if we were to lose the vote on the MOU, what is the time frame required to open the 
position up, and exactly how much more time are we willing to put the Office through this situation.  She 
stated that we had a serious political embarrassment in the County.  She stated that she personally urges 
the recommendation of the Executive Committee to take care of this issue.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who referred to the situation as an emergency.  He stated 
that we need to appoint someone today.  Attorney Boffetti is not my first choice, and I would rather see 
someone else in the position that is neutral.  He stated that he sees the situation as a County problem, not 
a State problem.  The Attorney General took over an issue with Attorney Reams that should have been 
handled by the County Commissioners and Human Resources.  He spoke in opposition of seeking outside 
candidates.  The retried Judge who has offered to fill the vacancy has the qualifications, which requires 
him to be a member of the NH Bar and live in Rockingham County.  He stated that the relationship in the 
County has been poisoned over the past year and it must change.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Belanger who commented that the Assistant Attorney General Boffetti 
has his hands full doing what he is doing at the State.  He spoke in support of the Judge and his 
qualifications, and urged everyone to vote no on the MOU.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Harris who requested clarification. Specifically, are we to assume it is 
the Delegation’s position that they have no problem allowing the State to pay for a county position?  Rep. 
Major referred to that is the language spelled out in the MOU.  Rep. Harris stated that the Delegation then 
has no problem putting the burden on to the State.  He stated that he does have a problem with the 
situation.  He commented that he thinks it is important to realize that the position is not solely in the 
County, because Attorney Boffetti still has responsibility at the State level.  He stated that the individual 
cannot serve two masters. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Pantelakos who stated that she is against the Judge taking over the 
position.  She pointed out that the Judge was recommended by former County Attorney Reams.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Hagan who commented that not all judges can administrate, so do not 
accept that premise.  He thanked Executive Committee for coming up with a solution to the problem. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts who stated that she was most vocal about this on the 
Executive Committee.  She too noted that there were no complaints against Attorney Boffetti.  This is a 
very short-term solution that seems to have been working right along.  She stated that she supports the 
MOU as presented. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Copeland who urged the Delegation to vote yes on the MOU.  He 
explained that Attorney Boffetti knows the strengths and weaknesses of the Office, as well as the aspect 
of prosecutions.  He suggested that we move forward.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Moody who stated that she agrees with Rep. Copeland’s comments and 
suggests that we vote the MOU.    She stated that isn’t it true that the County is paying for former 
Attorney Reams’ salary through November?  If Attorney Boffetti is coming per the MOU, we do not have 
to pay a double salary.  Chairman Major commented noting that is correct.  The salary was given to 
former Attorney Reams at his retirement.   
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Chairman Major recognized Rep. Elliott who stated that he is sorry to see that this is turning into a 
partisan issue noting that the democratic nomination is from the Attorney General’s Office and the 
republican nomination is a Judge.  He stated that he will vote neutral and will vote for the Judge.  
Chairman Major noted that the Executive Committee is made up of democrats and republicans.  Also, the 
vast majority of the Executive Committee is democratic.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Till who made a motion to move the questions to cut off debate.  Rep. 
Cali-Pitts seconded the motion.  The motion passed.    
 
Chairman Major clarified the vote for the MOU noting that a yes vote means that you are in favor of the 
MOU, and a no vote means that you are not in favor of the MOU.   Rep. Waterhouse conducted a roll call 
vote.   The results of the roll call were 32 in favor, and 23 opposed.  The MOU passed.     
 
Other Business: 
 
Rep. Weyler spoke about the line item transfer of the County Attorney’s salary.  He noted that by 
resolution of the Delegation, we declare that every transfer come before the Executive Committee and 
that has not been done.    
 
Rep. Pantelakos stated that she would like to apologize to everyone regarding the comments referring to 
democratic/republican. 
 
Rep. St. James stated that with respect to fellow colleagues, apparently there is an issue with the deputy 
sheriff’s bargaining unit in that longevity checks were paid by the County without the increase, and he 
understands that the Commissioners reasoning behind this was that they did not have to pay it due to the 
contract.  He asked that the Commissioners to relook at the issue.  He commented that the Commissioners 
are spending more time on the issue, rather than spending money on legal issues.  Commissioner Pratt 
commented that the matter is ongoing and being looked into.  
 
Rep. Waterhouse commented in reference to Rep. Weyler’s comments regarding line item transfers.  He 
announced that there is an Officer’s Meeting on July 14, 2014, and money in going to be used out of the 
Delegation audit line to see how we can go with best practices in the Commissioner’s Office and the 
Finance Office.  He explained that the Officers are going to propose an internal audit position to help 
clarify where the legal responsibilities are, and if the Commissioners are acting properly.  He noted that 
this is the type of question to be asked by the auditor as to why the money did not come before the 
Executive Committee.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who made a motion to adjourn.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded 
the motion.  The motion was approved.   
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:36 a.m.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Cheryl A. Hurley 
Delegation Coordinator 
 
Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk 
Rockingham County Delegation 
 
KW:cah  
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MINUTES 
ROCKINGHAM COUNTY  
CONVENTION MEETING  

Monday, August 25, 2014 
6:00 p.m. 

Hilton Auditorium 
Rockingham County Nursing Home 

Brentwood NH 
 

The members of the Rockingham County Convention held a meeting on Monday, August 25, 2014 at 
6:00 p.m. in the Hilton Auditorium at the Rockingham County Nursing Home in Brentwood, NH.  The 
purpose of the meeting was to vote two resolutions, proposed by the Executive Committee, to engage the 
services of an entity to conduct performance auditing and authorize the employment of a Certified Public 
Accountant.   
 
Rep. Norman L. Major, Chairman, called the meeting to order at 6:05 p.m. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who delivered the Invocation. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Rep. Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse, Clerk, to conduct roll call.  Rep. Waterhouse reported a total of   
52 members present. 
 
Those present were:  Rep. Norman L. Major, Chairman; Reps. Abrami, Allen, Baldassaro, Belanger, 
Bick, Cahill, Cali-Pitts, Charron, Chirichiello, Copeland, Cushing, DeSimone, Devine, Duarte, Dumaine, 
Elliott, Emerick, Ferrante, Fesh, Flockhart, Gordon, Grace, Griffin, Harris, Heffron, Helmstetter, 
Hodgdon, Hoelzel, Introne, Kappler, Kolodziej, Lovejoy, Mann, McMahon, Milz, Moody, Muns, 
Nigrello, O’Connor, Oligny, Perkins, Rice, Sanders, Sapareto, Sedensky, St. James, Sytek, Tasker, 
Tamburello, Tucker, Ward, Waterhouse, and Weyler. 
 
Also Present:  Attorney Sumner Kalman, Steve Woods, Nursing Home Administrator; Cheryl A. Hurley, 
Delegation Coordinator. 
 
Chairman Major explained the reason for the meeting.  He noted that the Delegation had voted previous 
language similar to the resolutions, but it did not include the language to designate a contingency fund as 
well as other language that is required to reflect the statutes.   
 
Rep. Mary Griffin read Resolution I, recommended by the Executive Committee.  Rep.  Waterhouse 
made a motion to approve Resolution I as read.   Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  Chairman Major 
recognized Rep. Belanger who asked what would happen if the resolution is not approved.  Chairman 
Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse explained that it was realized after the Delegation had voted to 
approve the funding of the performance audit line 54100 in the Delegation Office budget, that in order to 
comply with the language in the statutes the Convention needs to vote that line item as a contingency fund 
in order to expend the money budgeted for performance auditing. 
.     
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Oligny who had questions regarding the contingency line item.  
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who explained that we are not adding money to the line 
item.  It was when we looked further into the RSA, it was determined that we needed to establish the line 
item as a contingency fund.  
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Chairman Major explained that in his 18 years of service at the County, there have not been any 
performance audits.  It is good practice for any entity to have a performance audit.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Baldassaro who wanted an explanation as to where the $102,000 went.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who explained that $95,000 was taken from the General 
Government budget and moved into the Delegation Office budget for a total of $102,000 in the audit line 
to support conducting performance audits.  He explained that the Delegation has the authority as the 
appropriating body.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kappler who clarified that the resolution already approved has been 
revised and is being presented to designate the line as a “contingency fund” with the same appropriation 
as voted by the full Delegation at the budget approval meeting on March 4, 2014.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Oligny who asked for clarification in that the intent has not changed; 
rather, it is a reclassification to adhere to the wording of the statute as suggested by Attorney Kalman.  
Rep. Major confirmed yes. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Belanger who asked if the county has a bottom line budget and whether 
the Commissioners have the authority to switch the money to somewhere else.  Chairman Major 
explained that the Executive Committee has the authority to do transfers. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Tamburello who questioned if the Delegation has an audit performed, 
will the results be published publicly.  Chairman Major responded yes.  Chairman Major recognized Rep. 
Tamburello who asked if the audit services will go out to bid.  Chairman Major responded yes.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Emerick who questioned if the Delegation is looking to do a 
compliance audit or a performance audit. Rep. Major explained that there was a performance audit that 
was initiated by the Commissioners in October of 2013, that had a 90-day completion date.  He explained 
that the Executive Committee requested a copy of the report in April of 2014, and received the answer 
that it has not been completed.  He noted that at this point in time, we are still told that it is not completed.  
Further, the Delegation has asked for interim reports, status reports, etc. that are not available.   Rep. 
Emerick questioned if we think there is mismanagement.  Chairman Major, on again, commented that 
conducting a performance audit is a good practice for any business or municipality.  He explained that we 
want to know that if there are areas in which we can improve efficiency and to be sure that we are in 
conformance with respect to rules and regulations.  It is simply a good business practice, and the authority 
lies within the Delegation under the statutes.         
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. DeSimone who explained that it is important for everyone to 
understand that every municipality is required to audit their municipality annually. Speaking from 
experience, she noted that she looks forward to an audit.  She stated that she does not feel as though it is a 
witch hunt when an auditor comes to her office.  She commented that she believes that we need to move 
forward on this, and does not think we are significantly and purposely doing something wrong.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Baldassaro who stated that he believes that this issue is overdue, and 
thanked Rep. DeSimone for her comments.  He questioned what safeguards are in place on the process for 
bidding.  Chairman Major explained that the Audit Committee will make a recommendation to the 
Executive Committee before going forward with any audit as voted by the Delegation in the resolutions 
and outlined in the statutes. 
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Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts who pointed out that we are toward the end of this budget, 
and does think we should be changing in midstream.  She explained that we might have a new Board of 
Commissioners and we should be looking at the future, not in the past in this late stage.  She commented 
that she believes we should be looking at this issue at the beginning of next year’s budget.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Oligny referred to what he called an administrative change, and noted 
that we are not challenging the budget.  Those questions are not relevant. He noted that we need to decide 
whether we want to change the line item to make it conform to the statute per Attorney Kalman’s 
recommendation. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cushing who explained that he is trying to be clear about the process to 
allocate the funds, but is also trying to find out how we choose the departments and agencies that require 
an audit.  He further questioned the process.  Chairman Major explained. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Rice who stated that he underscores Rep. Oligny’s statement.  Rep. 
Rice respectfully requested that the Delegation take a vote on the issue.  Rep. DeSimone was in favor of 
Rep. Rice’s comment. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who read RSA 24:26 Performance Audits.  He referenced 
the language in RSA 24:26, III, as follows:  “The cost of a performance audit shall be paid from a 
contingency fund appropriated by the county convention under RSA 24:13, II.” 
 
Chairman Major pointed out that he has taken the language in the resolution to the DRA and they have 
confirmed that it is appropriate from their point of view. 
 
Rep. DeSimone had a question for Attorney Kalman relative to the bidding process.  Attorney Kalman 
explained that the statute is specific requiring that a contingency fund be the source of funding for a 
performance audit, RSA:24:13 Powers II, and that he is in agreement that the contingency fund language 
was missing when he reviewed the documents.  He confirmed that the statute clearly states that the county 
convention makes these decisions. 
   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. DeSimone who made a motion to move the question. Rep. Kappler 
seconded the motion.  The motion was approved.   
 
The motion to approve Resolution I, made and seconded, was approved by a voice vote. 
 
Rep. Elliott noted a point of order requesting that it be made mandatory that a microphone be provided to 
the members in the back of the room.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who made a motion to approve Resolution II as presented.  
Rep. Weyler seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cushing who questioned if this was always something the Executive 
Committee planned on doing, but wasn’t done correctly when we adopted the budget.  Chairman Major 
responded yes, and not that in the future we will have a line in the budget for fiscal audits and 
performance audits. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep Lovejoy who questioned reading from a document that indicates that 
there isn’t any money left in the line item to conduct an audit.  Several members in the room questioned 
the document that Rep. Lovejoy was referring noting that they had not received the information.   
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Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts who stated that Rep. Lovejoy is reading from a document that 
she had requested from the Finance Office that indicated that $18,189.00 is what is left over from the 
$102,000 appropriation.  She noted that we have a legal question that needs to be answered asking if the 
audits were paid for legally.  Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who stated that there should be 
$102,000 in the audit line.   
.   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Belanger who questioned the document that Rep. Cali-Pitts was 
referring to and why the rest of the Delegation members were not given a copy.  He asked Rep. Cali-Pitts 
if it is something that we should have all been given a copy of.  Rep. Cali-Pitts responded no, explaining 
that she has a copy of it because she specifically asked for it. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Baldassaro who questioned who released the information to Rep. Cali-
Pitts and not the other legislators.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts who stated that she asked for this information from the 
Commissioners; and she asked for the figures and they made it available to her.  Rep. Cali-Pitts responded 
that she did not know the Delegation has a lawyer.   
  
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Baldassaro who commented on what he called a misappropriation.    
 
Chairman Major referred to the fact that the Governor of the State of New Hampshire is not allowed to 
take money out of the legislative budget, but that it is happening at the County and it is wrong.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Lovejoy who referred to the fact that the county has a financial audit 
every year.  The cost of the financial audit comes out of the $102,000.  She questioned how much money 
needs to be allocated.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who noted that no money can be spent out of the 
Delegation budget without the approval of the Chairman.  He noted that we do have questions as to why 
money has been taken out of the Delegation budget without our approval.  He assured the members that 
we will follow the law.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Lovejoy who questioned if we change the language to a contingency 
fund, will we be able to pay for the financial audit out of this line item.  Chairman Major recognized Rep.  
Weyler who explained, referring to the $42,000 in encumbrances from last year. 
. 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. DeSimone who made a motion to move the question. The motion was 
seconded by Rep. Waterhouse and approved by a voice vote.  
 
Other Business: 
Chairman Major informed the group that he sent a letter to the Board of Commissioners asking for an 
explanation on the issue discussed.  He explained that if the Board of Commissioners did due diligence 
they should have asked for a transfer from the Executive Committee.  He noted that we are not going to 
allow any more expenditures to be made out of the Delegation line item without prior approval.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Baldassaro who wanted to know who took the money out of the line 
item.  He stated that we need answers.  
  
Chairman Major recognized Commissioner Pratt who explained the roughly $3,000 in question was 
approved by a warrant and voted at a meeting and approved by the Commissioners.  Chairman Major 
stated that it came out of the Delegation line item.  Commissioner Pratt responded yes, and stated that 
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anyone who has been a selectman knows that this is simply moving the money into the Delegation 
budget.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who commented that this is money used without the authority 
which is a misappropriation.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Waterhouse who referenced the warrant noting that a warrant is not 
legal without the Commissioner’s signatures.  He noted the fact that a co-equal branch of government has 
to go request information through 91-A, and we have been asking for copies of certain items as a branch 
of government.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Commissioner Pratt who stated that she had the signed document. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Hoelzel who wanted to know what the $3,100 was spent on.  Ms. 
Young, Finance Officer, stated on a Medicaid cost report.  Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler to 
what he referred to as a misuse of appropriation in the Delegation budget without Delegation authority. 
 
Chairman Major noted the issue being the Commissioners having the ability to take money out of the 
Delegation budget without the authority of asking the Delegation. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Griffin who made a motion to adjourn.  Rep. Waterhouse seconded the 
motion.  The motion was adjourned by a voice vote.    
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:07 p.m.      
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Cheryl A. Hurley       Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk 
Delegation Coordinator      Rockingham County Convention 
KW:cah   
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MINUTES 
ROCKINGHAM COUNTY  
DELEGATION MEETING 

Monday, October 6, 2014 
6:00 p.m. 

Hilton Auditorium 
Rockingham County Nursing Home 

Brentwood, NH 
 
The members of the Rockingham County Delegation held a meeting on Monday, October 6, 2014 at 6:00 
p.m. in the Hilton Auditorium at the Rockingham County Nursing Home in Brentwood, NH.  The 
purpose of the meeting is to vote on a resolution to bring suit against the Rockingham County 
Commissioner seeking temporary and permanent injunctive relief and a declaratory judgment in response 
to the Commissioners’ transfer of $83,810.50 from the 2014 Delegation Budget without authority from 
the Executive Committee to do so and the Commissioners’ assertion that the County Convention is not 
entitled to legal services and their intended refusal to authorize any invoices for such services. 
 
Norman L. Major, Chairman, called the meeting to order at 6:13 p.m. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kenneth L. Weyler who delivered the Invocation. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Gene Charron who led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk, who conducted the roll call.  Rep. 
Waterhouse reported a total of 42 members at the time the roll was called. 
 
Chairman Major noted that there was not a quorum present.  He explained that 44 members of the 
Convention constitute a quorum.   He asked that the member present wait 15 minutes to see if we could 
obtain a quorum.  
 
Those in attendance were: Rep. Norman L. Major, Chairman; Representatives Abrami, Allen, Andrews-
Ahearn, Bick, Birdsell, Cahill, Cali-Pitts, Charron, DeSimone, Devine, Duarte, Elliott, Emerick, Fesh,  
Gordon, Griffin, Hagan, Harris, Hayes, Heffron, Hoelzel, Introne, Itse, Kappler, Kolodziej, Mann, 
McKinney, Nigrello, Pantelakos, Priestley, Rice, Sanders, Schlachman, Sedensky, St. James, Sytek, 
Tasker, Till, Waterhouse, Webb, Weyler, and Whittemore.    
 
Excused:  Reps. Bishop, Burtis, Comerford, Copeland, Danais, Ferrante, Grace, Helmsetter, Moody, 
Muns, Norelli, O’Connor, Sherman, and Tucker. 
 
Also Present:  Commissioners Coyle, Pratt, Tombarello; Theresa Young, Finance Officer; Georgia Millot, 
Interim Human Resources Director; Steve Woods, Long-Term Care Services Director; Laura Collins, 
Commissioner’s Office; Cathy Stacey, Register of Deeds; Christopher Cole, Attorney, Sheehan, Phinney, 
Bass and Green; Cheryl Hurley, Delegation Coordinator. 
 
Chairman Major announced that due to the lack of a quorum, the meeting will be continued and held on 
Thursday, October 23, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. in the Hilton Auditorium at the Rockingham County Nursing 
Home in Brentwood. 
 
There being no further business to come before the members, the meeting adjourned at 7:47 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
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Cheryl A. Hurley 
Delegation Coordinator 
 
 
 
Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk 
Rockingham County Convention 
 
KW:cah 
 
 
 
 

2014 Rockingham County Annual Report Page  74 of 145



MINUTES 
ROCKINGHAM COUNTY  
DELEGATION MEETING 
Thursday, November 6, 2014 

6:00 p.m. 
Hilton Auditorium 

Rockingham County Nursing Home 
Brentwood, NH 

 
The members of the Rockingham County Delegation held a meeting on Thursday, November 6, 2014 at 
6:00 p.m. in the Hilton Auditorium at the Rockingham County Nursing Home in Brentwood, NH.  The 
purpose of the meeting is to vote two resolutions.   
 
Norman L. Major, Chairman, called the meeting to order at 6:11 p.m. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kenneth L. Weyler who delivered the Invocation. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Walter Kolodziej who led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kenneth Weyler, in Rep. Kevin Waterhouse’s absence to conduct the 
roll call.  Rep. Weyler conducted the roll and reported a total of 53 members present at the time the roll 
was called. 
 
Chairman Major declared that a quorum as present.   
 
Those in attendance were: Rep. Norman L. Major, Chairman; Representatives Abrami, Allen, Baldassaro, 
Bick, Bishop, Borden, Burtis, Cahill, Cali-Pitts, Charron, Chirichiello, DeSimone, Devine, Duarte, 
Dumaine, Emerick, Ferrante, Fesh,  Flockhart, Friel, Gordon, Grace Griffin, Hagan, Harris, Heffron, 
Hodgen, Hoelzel, Introne, Itse, Kappler, Kolodziej, Major, McKinney, McMahon, Milz, Moody, Nigrello, 
O’Connor, Oligny, Packard, Pantelakos, Peckham, Priestley, Rice, Sanders, Sapareto, Schlachman, 
Sedensky, Sweeney, Sytek, Tasker, Till, Webb, and Weyler.    
 
Excused:  Reps. Comerford, Copeland, Danais, Helmsetter, Muns, Norelli, Sherman, and Tucker. 
 
Also Present:  Commissioners Coyle, Pratt, Tombarello; Cheryl Hurley, Delegation Coordinator. 
 
Chairman Major explained the purpose of the meeting being vote two resolutions.  Chairman Major 
recognized Rep. Mary Griffin who read Resolution 1 as follows:   
 
To authorize the Rockingham County Convention to bring suit against the Rockingham County 
Commissioners in response to the Commissioners’ unauthorized expenditure of $95,000 from the 2014 
Delegation Budget and the Commissioners’ intended refusal to pay Convention legal fees, as appropriated 
by the Convention for services. 
 
Rep. Pantelakos seconded the motion.   
. 
Chairman Major provided a brief explanation for the purpose of voting the resolution. He referred the 
members to the letter that was sent to the Convention from the Officers dated November 2, 2014, 
addressing the issues.  Chairman Major read the RSA’s that pertained to the resolution.  He referred to 
item #1 in the letter pertaining to audits and explained the audit process and noted that the Commissioners 
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are in violation of the statute which requires the approval of all audits to be approved by the Executive 
Committee.  Chairman Major also read RSA 24:26 Performance Audits and explained.     
 
Chairman Major then read item #2 in the letter pertaining to the fact that $102,000 in the Delegation line 
item designated as a contingency fund.  He explained that on August 25, 2014, the Convention voted and 
approved the authority to hire a CPA and conduct performance audits, which has been invaded to the tune 
of $95,000.  He explained the details involving the situation.    
   
Chairman Major then read item #3 in the letter pertaining to the declaration by the Commissioners that 
the Convention does not have the authority to retain legal counsel to address their disputes on behalf of 
the Convention.  Chairman Major explained that the Convention has a $25,000 legal services line item in 
their budget.  He referred to past practice of the Convention hiring and paying for an attorney for an 
employee grievance issue, which resulted in paying our Attorney for crafting the policies for the 
Convention’s Personnel Commission for employee grievances.  He noted that the attorney fees were 
authorized and approved for payment by the Commissioners without question.     
 
Chairman Major opened the meeting up for discussion and questions.  Rep. Webb referred to what he sees 
as the bottom line being money that the Commissioners took out of the Delegation budget and 
transferring it for performance audits.  He referred to the situation as taking the money out of one pocket 
and putting it into another, and the fact is the taxpayers are going to pay for the legal battle, and 
questioned if it is worth it.  Chairman Major explained that the Commissioners are not following the 
statutes, and that we as legislators are the overseers of all county appropriations.  He noted that the 
legislator’s authority is clearly spelled out in the statutes.  He also referred to the lengthy process which 
resulted in over a year’s time to obtain information relative to the Human Resources/Finance Audit.  He 
explained that members of the Convention tried to obtain information from the company who was 
performing the audit and the company told them that they did not provide the answers because they were 
assured that the Commissioners were answering their questions.  Rep. Webb asked if the Commissioners 
could tell their version of the situation.  Chairman Major responded yes.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. O’Connor who referred to the letter noting that there have been a total 
of 6 meetings drafting an MOU. Those meeting were ongoing and positive, but it fell apart.  He requested 
that the Convention get the Commissioners opinion of their MOU and the Conventions opinion of the 
MOU. Chairman Major commented that he had hoped to get the issues resolved.  He explained that 
negotiations were held and they were confidential.  He noted that he honored his commitment to not 
discuss the issue. Chairman Major read the six bullet items outlined in the negotiations that the officers 
agreed upon that were presented to Commissioner’s attorney.  He explained that this went on six times.  
He further explained that every time we thought we had an agreement, new restrictions were presented to 
us.  He commented that we as legislators have the responsibility to do the right thing. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Heffron who asked if the Commissioners are going to respond.  
Chairman Major responded yes.   
 
Rep. Heffron questioned if it would be prudent to suspend deliberations on the motion and take up the 
next order of business, which is the appointment of County Attorney.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Heffron who made a motion to delay action on the motion on the floor.  
Rep. Oligny seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Mary Griffin who read Resolution 2.  
 

2014 Rockingham County Annual Report Page  76 of 145



Chairman Major recognized Rep. Baldassaro who questioned that if we take up Resolution 2, would we 
risk having a quorum to vote on Resolution 1.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts who questioned.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Peckham who spoke in favor of Rep. Heffron’s motion.  
 
Chairman Major called for further questions.  A show of hands to vote on delaying Resolution 1 and 
moving on to Resolution 2 was conducted. Rep. Kappler requested a roll call vote.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who conducted a roll call vote.  The results were 28 in favor, 25 
opposed.  The motion passed.    
 
Rep. Griffin read Resolution 2 as follows: 
 

Be it resolved that the Rockingham County Convention, in accordance with RSA 661:9, and the 
agreement of Memorandum of Understanding between the Rockingham County Convention and 
Attorney General Joseph A. Foster, voted on June 30, 2014, appoint Patricia Conway as Rockingham 
County Attorney, who was elected County Attorney in the state general election on November 4, 2014, 
until she is sworn into Office on January 7, 2015, RSA 653:10.   

 
Rep. Kappler seconded the motion.  Chairman Major called for discussion.  There was none.  The motion 
was unanimously approved by a voice vote.  
  
Chairman Major recognized Ms. Cathy Stacey, Register of Deeds, and Justice of the Peace, to administer 
the Oath of Office.  The Oath of Office was taken by Attorney Patricia Conway, and she was 
congratulated by those present.  
 
Chairman Major opened discussion on Resolution 1.  Chairman Major recognized Rep. Baldassaro who 
stated that he has confidence with the Chairman and the Officers, and is going to support them, but 
wanted to hear from the Commissioners stating that it is the legislator’s duty and responsibility to do the 
right thing. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts who, referring to the resolution stated that her hang-up is 
suing the Commissioners personally. She noted that this would require the Commissioners to hire their 
personal attorney, and this is not personal business.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Commissioner Coyle who explained the issue of addressing the 
Commissioners personally.  He stated that you all have a copy of the lawsuit, and we did not do anything 
that we should be sued personally.  He explained the $95,000 that was put into the General Government 
section of the budget to pay for certain items, one of which was the county audit.  The Commissioners 
paid for the Medicaid cost report as well.  These are legitimate county expenses.  The Commissioners had 
two ongoing studies; the Human Resources/Finance Study and the Jail Study, budgeted for it in the 
$95,000.  Rep. Weyler moved that money into the delegation budget.  There was $7,000 already in the 
line.  He commented that Rep. Major and I sat down and I thought we had an agreement.  You agreed on 
the approximately $83,000 expenditures.  He noted that the lawsuit will cost $100,000 and a waste of 
taxpayer money, for lack of a better word “it is a pissing contest.”   He stated that we know our authority 
and you know your authority.  He also commented about the bill that was put in the legislature, and the 
fact that the Commissioners are the only ones who have the authority to hire legal counsel.  He questioned 
where is the delegation’s contract with their lawyer, noting that they Delegation do not have a contract 
with their lawyer and that this seems to be irresponsible.  Further that the Delegation’s bill to date are 
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over $16,000.  He stated that he does not understand where things broke down, but has his opinion.  He 
referred to this as a frivolous lawsuit. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Oligny who, referring to RSA 28:3-a, noted that through practice they 
were not following the law.  The Commissioners are doing what they have always been doing.  He 
questioned that if we all agree as the law stands today, can we move forward. 
 
Chairman Major explained that we had agreed to the approximately $83,000 expenditure, but there were 
other items addressing other issues that the Commissioners would not agree to.  Issues such as the 
Commissioners unwillingness to pay for our attorney fees and meet with the Officers monthly.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Oligny, who referring to the four points, suggested that we deal with 
each item in a series and he believes this will be more effective.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Attorney Sumner Kalman who explained the process to date. He began at the 
beginning with the first item which was the Executive Committee and Officers running into a situation 
where they want to have performance audits under the direction of the Executive Committee.  It was 
determined that the money has to come from a contingency fund.  The other issue was to hire a CPA due 
to serious difficulties in the Convention obtaining information and cooperation.  The members of the 
Convention were filing 91-a requests asking for information that was not being given to them.  He further 
explained that he had expected that changing the $102,000 line from Audit/Study/Investigation and 
designating it as a Contingency Fund and approval for hiring a CPA as an unanticipated expense would 
be the end to the issue as the Convention gave approval to those two items.  We were also advised at that 
same meeting that approximately $83,000 had been drawn from that line and was spent.  The 
Commissioners drew the money that the Convention thought was available.  He explained that there were 
two types of audits – performance and financial and the money was spent.  He explained the audit relative 
to statute, RSA 28:3-a, says that the Executive Committee has to approve the audit, and also is able to 
direct the subject areas that they want considered by the auditors.   I asked the Executive Committee if 
they had input on this, and they responded no.   
 
Attorney Kalman further explained that when the legislators create a $78,000,000 budget, there is a 
template from DRA on the total budget and how much each department should get and every line has a 
specific appropriation.  He explained that the legislators decide this as a Delegation member.  Someone at 
the Delegation Office is designated to sign off on the warrants, and the understanding is that the specific 
line items for specific purposes should not be expended until the approval is given to them to take from 
the budget.  He stated that the money was spent illegally.  Attorney Kalman read the bullet item included 
in the negotiations for the item relative to the audit and copies of invoices.  The Commissioners said they 
would agree to pay or approve the approximately $83,000 by way of settlement, in good faith.  We 
hashed out a lot of issues relative to the bullet items.  I thought we had a deal, because I had prepared the 
bullets, so I thought it would be appropriate to have the other side prepare their response.  When we got 
the response, this is not where we were at.  We prepared a response to that.  There was a response to that, 
and so on, with a total of 6 attempts to resolve the issues.  He stated that it is especially frustrating that at 
the sixth response new language was developed that was devastating and substantive.  We thought that 
maybe with the authority of the Delegation we could resolve this in good faith.  The Officers reviewed it, 
and realized that there were provisions in it that were not responsible.  We took out the language 
regarding bidding for services over $5,000 for contracts in Rockingham County, which does not apply to 
the Delegation. Commissioner Coyle responded that we believe you are a department. Attorney Sumner 
responded to Commissioner Coyle that that is a legal dispute.    He further explained that legal services 
fall under the statute.  The Commissioners offered to waive the requirement for this particular 
expenditure.  This was also offensive. Additionally, the Commissioners said that they will pay this one 
time attorney fees and no further amounts for legal services on behalf of the Convention.  They do not 
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acknowledge that the Convention can hire an attorney and pay for it out of the legal services line in their 
budget.  He noted that those are the three stumbling blocks in the agreement.  Further, that the Executive 
Committee voted 14 to 1 to authorize the litigation to the County Convention. 
 
Attorney Kalman went on to explain the specific statute for the Commissioners to hire legal counsel.  He 
noted that the research on this law shows that it was there for the Commissioners because of the duties of 
the County Attorney.  He read RSA 7:34, which would have required the Commissioners to have the 
County Attorney represent them and not be able to hire their attorney, and the County Attorney only does 
prosecutions at the county level.  This left the Commissioners in the counties with no representation and 
that statute gave them the ability to hire counsel.  That does not mean that the Convention do not have the 
authority to hire an attorney even when they have $25,000 in their budget for legal services.  The 
Commissioners agreed to let that money be shifted to cover other expenses which left $14,000 in the legal 
services line.   
 
Attorney Kalman stated that the petition originally crafted has been reworked.  The potential is there for 
the Commissioners to be sued individually, and it is there because they have acted outside their legal 
authority.  There are some changes, but that is why the language is in there.  Unfortunately, if it is not in 
the lawsuit, the Commissioners have no incentive try and settle the issues.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Oligny who noted that it sounds like the first item is agreed to.  He 
suggested that the members pass a motion for both sides to collaborate and mediate this matter across the 
table, rather than drafting an agreement which only breeds contempt and goodwill.  He referred to the 
process as being broken.  He suggested a motion where both parties commence a different process that 
would be one of collaborative law, such as mediation, and that would be his best suggestion. 
. 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who stated that for years he has been asking for performance 
audits, and what he has been told is that the Commissioners do studies.  He referred to this situation as a 
lack of trust when he gets this type information from the Commissioners.  Rep. Weyler explained that he 
was moving the money from the General Government budget to the Delegation budget to conduct the 
audits.  The Commissioners did not coordinate this with us, and they did not provide us with the details.  
We recently saw a list of items that used up that money, and the Human Resources/Finance audit was not 
on the list.  The Medicaid cost report was on the list.  He referred to this as misinformation.  The 
legislative body has the authority for all the audit functions, and if we mirror what is done at the state, we 
are the individuals who approve, appoint, and get audits done.  He noted that the Convention also 
attempted to hire an auditor and noted that we got many alarm blocks.  He stated that we are asking the 
Convention to give us a tool. 
   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Dumaine who questioned if we have received the audits.  Chairman 
Weyler responded yes, but we did but never got the invoices.  Chairman Major recognized Rep. Dumaine 
who asked Commissioner Coyle why we have not gotten the invoices.  Commissioner Coyle responded 
that they did not ask.  Commissioner Coyle also stated that they are public records.    
. 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Peckham who stated that it is clear that the negotiations have broken 
down.  She stated that she echoes Rep. Oligny’s concerns.  She suggested a mediator and not litigation.  
She stated that she believes we are close, but not there.  Speaking as an Attorney, that is her suggestion. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Rice who spoke about his experience in negotiating contracts.  He noted 
that we have a solid agreed upon procedure, and thinks we should get a mediator.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Simone who stated that she also has a problem spending the taxpayers’ 
money. She stated that the Commissioner have an attorney and that shows mistrust on my side.  We also 
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have an attorney and that shows our mistrust.  There is no professional courtesy, and if one side asks for a 
bill then give us the bill, and none of this would have happened.  We would not have spent $16, 000 on 
attorney fees. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Schlachman who referred to transparency regarding reports with 
Human Resources, noting that she sent the members of the Convention an email regarding this issue.  She 
stated that every time she has asked the Commissioner’s Office for information going back to last winter, 
she has gotten what she has asked for, including the invoices and the HR/Finance Report.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Attorney Kalman who went over the three bullet points.  Attorney Kalman 
noted that the final version as the fifth version, and that being our final offer.  It steered away from the 
legal controversies of not trying to resolve the issues such as the contingency fund, the audit, and the 
issues in dispute.  It was resolvable and it may still be.  He explained that he has settled many cases with 
mediation; but noted if you do not have risk, you will not settle the case.  There is no risk in mediation.  
He stated that you will not get the result you will want to get. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Commissioner Coyle who stated that he believes that we can get back to 
what we agreed upon at the first meeting. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Commissioner Coyle who pointed out one of the sticking points is relative to 
the Convention having the authority to hire a lawyer.   He suggested that the legislators put in a bill to 
allow the Commissioners to pay for Convention legal fees.  Chairman Major explained that the 
Convention has the authority to hire a lawyer.  Commissioner Coyle stated that we want to put these 
issues to bed.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Baldassaro who asked if we could go back to the original agreement 
and agree and move it to a vote on the lawsuit, if mediation fails.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. DeSimone who made a motion to amend the resolution to read as 
follows: 
 
To authorize the Rockingham County Convention, in the event that the agreement or mediation is not 
successful by November 30, 2014, to bring suit against the Rockingham County Commissioners in 
response to the Commissioners’ unauthorized expenditure of $95,000 from the 2014 Delegation Budget 
and the Commissioners’ intended refusal to pay Convention legal fees, as appropriated by the Convention 
for services. 
 
Rep. Baldassaro seconded the motion. 
.   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kappler who made a motion to have a quorum call, and continue to 
work on this before the next meeting when we have a quorum if we do not have one now. Rep. DeSimone 
seconded the motion.   Rep. Emerick asked for clarification on the motion.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Pantelakos who stated that she does not believe that we need a 
mediator.  It is the agreement between Commissioner Coyle and the Executive Committee. 
   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Cali-Pitts questioned if we are looking for an interpretation of the law 
or coming to an agreement on the issues. 
 
Chairman Major explained that we want to come to an agreement to what has been done in the past, and 
as we go forward we are going to agree to follow the statutes.   
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Chairman Major recognized Commissioner Coyle who stated that we do not believe you follow the 
statutes. 
  
Chairman Major recognized Rep. DeSimone who made a motion to move the questions.  All were in 
favor.  
 
Chairman Major explained the amended motion on the floor.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Heffron who questioned the motion as amended asking what we are 
looking for the court to order.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Attorney Kalman who answered the question with a preliminary injunction 
to restore the $102,000 taken away from the Delegation budget without the authority because audits were 
conducted without the Executive Committee’s approval and resolving the attorney issue.  Attorney 
Kalman referred these as urgent issues that need to be addressed before December 31, 2014.    
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Heffron who questioned the practical benefit.  Chairman Major 
recognized Rep. DeSimone who made a motion to move the question.   The motion was approved by a 
voice vote.  
   
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler to conduct a roll call vote on the amended resolution.  The roll 
call vote was 42 in favor, 10 opposed.  The motion was approved.   
 
Chairman Major explained that the Officers will make a recommendation to the Executive Committee or 
provide them with the final draft of the lawsuit, if necessary.   Chairman Major informed the Convention 
that the Executive Committee will meet on Monday, December 1, 2014 at 9:30 a.m. at which time they 
will be presented with an update from the Officers on the issue.      
 
Other Business: 
Chairman Major announced the next order of business which was an appreciation award to be presented 
to Rep. Gene Charron, who will be leaving the Convention after ten years of service, and also as 
Chairman of the Executive Committee.  Chairman Major presented the award to Rep. Charron.  Rep. 
Charron took a few minutes to speak to the members and thanked them for the award.   
 
Chairman Major noted that he has another award to present to Rep. Waterhouse who could not be at 
tonight’s meeting.  Chairman Major read the award to be presented to Rep. Waterhouse.     
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Pantelakos who made a motion to adjourn.   Rep. Kappler seconded the 
motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:40 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Cheryl A. Hurley 
Delegation Coordinator 
 
Rep. Kevin Waterhouse, Clerk 
Rockingham County Convention 
KW:cah 
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MINUTES 
DELEGATION ORGANIZATION MEETING 

Wednesday, December 10, 2014 
Hilton Auditorium 

Rockingham County Nursing Home 
Brentwood NH 

 
The members of the Rockingham County Delegation held an Organization Meeting on Wednesday, 
December 10, 2014 at 10:00 a.m. in the Hilton Auditorium at the Rockingham County Nursing Home in 
Brentwood, NH.  The purpose of the meeting was to elect Officers and an Executive Committee, and to 
conduct other county business. 
 
Rep. Norman L. Major, Chairman, called the meeting to order at 10:05 a.m.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Kenneth L. Weyler who delivered the Invocation. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Mary Allen who led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Mary E. Griffin, Acting Clerk, to conduct the roll call.   
 
Those in attendance were: Rep. Norman L. Major, Chairman; Representatives Allen, Barnes, Bates, 
Belanger, Berrien, Cahill, Cali-Pitts, Chase, Chirichiello, Cook, DeSimone, Devine, Duarte, Emerick, 
Ferrante, Gannon, Griffin, Guthrie, Harris, Heffron, Hodgdon, Hoelzel, Introne, Itse, Kappler, 
Katsakiores, Kolodziej, Matthews, Milz, O’Connor, Oligny, Pantelakos, Potucek, Sanders, Simpson 
Tasker, Thomas, True, Vose, G. Ward, J. Ward, Webb, Welch, Weyler, Woitkun, and Wood.   
 
Excused:  Representatives Cardon, Cushing, Elliott, Moody, McMahon, Sytek, DiFranco, Gordon, 
McBeath,    
 
Absent:  Representatives Abrami, Abramson, Azarian, Baldassaro, Borden, Bush, Christie, Doucette, 
Dobson, Francese, Friel, P. Gordon, R. Gordon, Hagan, Howe, Kellogg, Lovejoy, Lundgren, McKinney, 
Nigrello, Osborne, Packard, Peckham, Priestley, Prudhomme-O’Brien, Rice, Schroadter, Sherman, 
Spillane, D. Sweeney, J. Sweeney, Tamburello, Tucker.  
 
Also Present:  Sandy Buck, Treasurer, Steve Woods, Long-Term Care; Janet Demers, Long-Term Care; 
Laura Collins, Board of Commissioners, Judge Gates, Enginering & Maintenance; Georgia Millot, 
Human Resources; High Sheriff Michael Downing, Sheriff’s Office; Superintendent Stephen Church, 
Department of Corrections; Martha Breen, Sheriff’s Department; Theresa Young, Finance Officer; 
Commissioners Pratt and Tombarello; Attorney Elizabeth Bailey, Sheehan, Phinney, Bass & Green; 
Cheryl A. Hurley, Delegation Coordinator.  
 
Rep. Griffin, Acting Clerk, reported a total of 48 members present at the time the roll was called. 
 
Chairman Major declared that a quorum was present. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Bob Fesh, Chairman of the Nominating Committee.  Chairman Fesh 
nominated Rep. Norman L. Major for Convention Chairman.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the motion.  Rep. 
Major called for further nominations.  There were none.  Rep. Major instructed the Clerk to cast one 
ballot for Rep. Norman L. Major as Convention Chairman.    
 

2014 Rockingham County Annual Report Page  82 of 145



Chairman Major recognized Rep. Fesh for the nomination of Convention Vice-Chairman.  Rep. Fesh 
nominated Rep. Mary Griffin for Convention Vice-Chairman.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the nomination.  
Rep. Major called for further nominations.  There were none.  Rep. Major instructed the Clerk to case one 
ballot for Rep. Mary Griffin for Convention Clerk.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Fesh for the nomination of Convention Clerk.  Rep. Fesh nominated 
Rep. David Welch for Convention Clerk.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the motion.  Rep. Major called for 
further nominations.  There were none.  Rep. Major instructed the Clerk to cast one ballot for Rep. Kevin 
Waterhouse for Convention Clerk.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Fesh for the nomination of Executive Committee Chairman.  Rep. Fesh 
nominated Rep. Kenneth Weyler for Executive Committee Chairman.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the 
motion.  Rep. Major called for further nominations.  There were none.  Rep. Major instructed the Clerk to 
cast one ballot for Rep. Kenneth Weyler for Executive Committee Chairman.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Fesh for the nomination for Executive Committee Vice-Chairman.  
Rep. Fesh recognized Rep. Walter Kolodziej for Executive Committee Vice-Chairman.  Rep. Pantelakos 
seconded the motion.  Rep. Major called for further nominations.  There were none.  Rep. Major 
instructed the Clerk to cast one ballot for Rep. Walter Kolodziej for Executive Committee Vice-
Chairman. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Fesh for the nomination for Executive Committee Clerk.  Rep. Fesh 
nominated Rep. David Welch for Executive Committee Clerk.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the nomination.  
Rep. Major called for further nominations.  There were none.  Rep. Major instructed the Clerk to cast one 
ballot for Rep. David Welch for Executive Committee Clerk. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Fesh for the nomination of the Executive Committee, District 1.  Rep. 
Fesh presented the following slate:   
 
District 1 
 
Rep. Mary Allen  
Rep. Jacqueline Cal-Pitts  
Rep. Renny Cushing 
Rep. Laura Pantelakos 
Rep. Fred Rice 
Rep. Pantelakos seconded the nomination.  Chairman Major called for further nominations.  There were 
none.  Rep. Belanger moved that nominations be closed.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the motion.  
Chairman Major instructed the Clerk to cast one ballot for the slate for the Executive Committee, District 
1, as presented.  
 
Rep. Major recognized Rep. Fesh for the nomination of Executive Committee, District 2.  Rep. Fesh 
presented the following slate: 
 
District 2 
 
Rep. Ronald Belanger 
Rep. James Devine  
Rep. Debra DeSimone  
Rep. Kathleen Hoelzel  
Rep. L. Mike Kappler  
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Rep. Pantelakos seconded the nomination.  Chairman Major called for further nominations.  There were 
none.  Rep. Belanger moved that nominations be closed.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the motion.  
Chairman Major instructed the Clerk to cast one ballot for the slate for the Executive Committee, District 
2, as presented.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Fesh for the nomination for Executive Committee, District 3.  Rep.  
Fesh presented the following slate: 
 
District 3 
 
Rep. Brian Chirichiello 
Rep. Robert Fesh 
Rep. Robert Introne 
Rep. Phyllis Katsakiores 
Rep. John O’Connor 
 
Rep. Belanger moved that nominations be closed.  Rep. Pantelakos seconded the motion.  Chairman 
Major instructed the Clerk to cast one ballot for the slate for the Executive Committee, District 3, as 
presented.  
 
Chairman Major noted the next order of business on the agenda was to adopt resolutions.   
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Griffin who read Resolution 2014-1 as follows:  

 
Resolution 2014-1 – Adoption of Procedures for Filling Rockingham County Executive Committee 
Vacancies (RSA 24:2-b): 
 

I move that the Rockingham County Convention authorize the Executive Committee to fill 
vacancies on the Executive Committee by a vote of the remaining members.  Replacements shall 
be from the same Commissioner District as the seat being vacated, and to the extent possible shall 
be from the same party. 

 
Rep. Belanger seconded the motion.  The resolution was approved by a voice vote.  
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Griffin who read Resolution 2014-2 as follows: 
 
Resolution 2014-2 - Authorization for Rockingham County to Pay 2013 Expenses (RSA 24:15): 
 

Due to timing differences, the County runs without a signed operating budget during the months 
of January and February.  Historical figures demonstrate that the January and February expenses 
will total approximately $10 million. 

 
Since RSA 24:15 states that “no County Commissioners or elected or appointed official shall pay, 
or agree to pay, or incur any liability for the payment of, any sum of money for which the County 
Convention has made no appropriation, I move that we, the County Convention, authorize the 
County to spend up to $10 million for 2015 expenses during the months of January and February 
in anticipation of the subsequent approval of the 2015 budget. 

 
Further, that the $10 million be allocated proportionately to line items based on 2014 approved 
net appropriations to fund like operating and personnel expenses in existence as of 12/31/14. 
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Rep. Belanger seconded the motion.  The resolution was approved by a voice vote. 
 
Rep. Major recognized Rep. Griffin who read Resolution 2014-3 as follows:  
 
Resolution 2012-3 – Executive Committee to act as a Subcommittee (RSA 24:2) 
 

I move that we, the County Convention, designate the Rockingham County Executive 
Committee, according to RSA 24:2, to act as a subcommittee to consider the budget, or other 
matters, and make recommendations to the County Convention. 

 
Rep. Belanger seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a voice vote. 
 
Other Business: 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Griffin who read the following motion for approval: 

 
Motion to Appoint an Investigations Committee 

 
The move that we, Rockingham County Convention, under RSA 24:17 Investigations, appoint an 
Investigations Committee of its own members, not to exceed 5, and not over 3 to be of either of the 2 
major political parties, to investigate conditions pertaining to the conduct of county affairs by any county 
officer or any person appointed or employed by such officer, which committee shall have power to 
summon witnesses, examine them under oath, secure a transcript of the testimony and do other necessary 
acts to conduct such an investigation. 

 
Rep. Weyler seconded the motion.  Chairman Major recognized Rep. Weyler who provided a brief 
explanation.  A lengthy discussion ensued.  There being no further questions, the motion was approved by 
a voice vote. 
 
Chairman Major recognized Rep. Griffin who read the following resolution for approval: 
 
Motion to Designate Delegation Officers/Executive Committee Officers Audit Committee Members 
 
I move that we, the Rockingham County Convention, designate the Rockingham County Delegation 
Officers and Executive Committee Officers members of the County Convention Audit Committee. (RSA 
28:3-a County Audits). 
 
Rep. Weyler seconded the motion.  Chairman Major called for questions.  Rep. Cali-Pitts questioned.  
There being no further questions, the motion was approved by a voice vote.  
 
Announcements: 
 
Chairman Major informed the members that they will soon be receiving information regarding the 
county’s subcommittee assignment request form and budget schedule.  He also asked the members to turn 
in their mileage forms to either the Finance Office or Delegation Office in order to get paid for attending 
meetings at the county.  Also, the Executive Committee will meet immediately following the meeting.  
    
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 10:55 a.m.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
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Cheryl A. Hurley       
Delegation Coordinator 
 
Rep. David A. Welch, Clerk 
Rockingham County Convention 
 
DAW:cah 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

The County of Rockingham’s financial management offers readers of these financial 
statements this narrative, overview and analysis of the financial activities of the 
County of Rockingham (County) for the year ended December 31, 2014. This dis-
cussion and analysis is designed for readers in focusing on the significant financial 
issues and activities of the County and to identify any significant change in financial 
position. Readers are encouraged to review the information presented here in con-
junction with additional information furnished in the County’s financial statements, 
which follow this narrative. 

A. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS – GOVERNMENT WIDE 

• The assets of the County exceeded its liabilities at the close of the fiscal year 
by $68,210,961 (net position). 

• The County’s total net position reflects an increase of $4,747,944. The 
increase was planned to prepare for self-insured health funding. 

B. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS – FUND STATEMENTS 

• As of the close of the year, the County’s reported combined ending fund bal-
ances of $40,667,231 were a decrease of $1,333,999 in comparison to the 
prior year. The decrease is mostly due to specific planning by management to 
fund self-insured benefits, as funds were transferred to the Health Fund in 
2014.  

• At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General 
Fund was $24,936,517, or 32% of total 2014 General Fund (budgeted) appro-
priations. The primary component of unassigned fund balance is stabilization 
reserves of $19,673,889. A goal of the County has been to maintain reserves 
equivalent to three months of budgeted appropriations, a portion of which 
could be used if certain conditions are met. 

• The County’s total long-term debt decreased by approximately $935,000 
during the current year, due to the $525,000 scheduled principal payment on 
general obligation bonds issued in July 2013 and approximately $410,000 of 
scheduled principal payments on capital lease obligations. 

• The County retains an Aa1 bond rating for its long-term borrowing and main-
tained its MIG-1 rating on its short-term borrowing. The consistent level of 
bond rating is a clear indication of the sound financial condition of the County. 

• In 2014, the County reestablished self-insurance for Health Fund and 
Compensated Absences. $3.4 million in General Fund committed fund 
balance, set aside for this purpose, was transferred to these two internal 
service funds (also classified as proprietary funds) which partially accounts 
for the decrease in total General Fund balances. 
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C. OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the 
County’s basic financial statements. The County’s basic financial statements 
consist of three components: (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund 
financial statements, and (3) notes to financial statements (see Figure 1). The 
basic financial statements present two different views of the County through the 
use of government-wide statements and fund financial statements. In addition to 
the basic financial statements, this report contains other supplemental informa-
tion that will enhance the reader’s understanding of the financial condition of the 
County. 
 
• The statements presented on pages 11 and 12 are the Government-wide 

Financial Statements. They provide both short and long-term information 
about the County’s financial status. 

• The next statements are Fund Financial Statements. These statements focus 
on the activities of the individual parts of the County’s government. They pro-
vide more detail than the government-wide statements. There are four parts 
to the Fund Financial Statements: (1) the governmental fund statements, 
(2) the budgetary comparison statements, (3) the proprietary fund statements, 
and (4) the fiduciary fund statements. 

• The next section of the basic financial statements is the notes. The notes to 
the financial statements explain in detail some of the data contained in those 
statements. Following the notes is the required supplemental information that 
further explains and supports the information in the financial statements. 

 
Required Components of Annual Financial Report

Figure 1

Management's
Discussion and

Analysis

Basic
Financial

Statements

Government-wide
Financial

Statements

Fund
Financial

Statements

Notes to
Financial

Statements
 

D. ANALYSIS OF NET POSITION 

The following analysis focuses on net position (Table 1) and changes in net 
position (Table 2). Net position may serve, over time, as one useful indicator of a 
government’s financial condition. Unrestricted net position can be used to finance 
day-to-day operations of the County and reduce the effect of property taxes. 

2014 Rockingham County Annual Report Page  99 of 145



Table 1

2013 2014

Current assets $ 58,149,771 $ 60,996,077
Noncurrent assets 32,418,942 32,364,946

Total assets 90,568,713 93,361,023

Current liabilities 16,754,822 14,471,855
Noncurrent liabilities 10,337,202 10,661,055
Deferred inflows of resources 13,672         17,152

Total liabilities and deferred inflows
of resources 27,105,696 25,150,062

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 30,764,090 32,301,468
Restricted 499,328 475,617
Unrestricted 32,199,599 35,433,876

Total net position $ 63,463,017 $ 68,210,961

NET POSITION
Governmental 

Activities

 
 

Table 2

2013 2014
Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services:

Long term care services $ 23,887,394 $ 23,650,977
Corrections 205,798 366,669
Administration and other 3,676,803 3,120,082
Sheriff's office 1,208,733 1,360,576
County attorney 241,663 225,103

        Total charges for services 29,220,391 28,723,407
Operating grants and contributions 691,576 268,716
Capital grants and contributions 23,552         162,940       

General revenues:
Taxes 43,873,563 44,809,156
Investment income 46,691 58,429
Miscellaneous 183,867 943,430

Total revenues 74,039,640 74,966,078

CHANGE IN NET POSITION
Governmental 

Activities

 
 (continued)  
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(continued) 
 

Table 2

2013 2014

CHANGE IN NET POSITION
Governmental 

Activities
 

Expenses:
Long term care services 25,313,379 25,402,222 
Categorical assistance 15,652,117 16,452,555 
Corrections 11,152,313 11,379,142 
Administration and other 9,602,985    9,127,987    
Sheriff's office 5,242,391    5,099,953    
County attorney 2,959,649    2,756,275    

Total expenses 69,922,834 70,218,134 

Change in net position 4,116,806    4,747,944    

Net position - beginning of year 59,346,211 63,463,017 

Net position - end of year $ 63,463,017 $ 68,210,961 
 

E. GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

Below is a graph that presents actual expenditures under each of the major 
governmental activities as a percentage of total expenditures. 
 

  

Long Term Care 
Services
36.18%

Categorical 
Assistance

23.43%

Corrections
16.21%

Sheriff's Office
7.26%

County Attorney
3.93% Administration and 

Other
12.99%

Expenses by Function - Governmental Activities For the Year 
Ended December 31, 2014
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The following tables present the costs and net costs of the major County 
departments/functions. Costs are based upon total expenses and net costs are 
calculated by taking the total function-specific expenses, less direct revenues 
related to that particular function. The net costs represent amounts that are 
funded by general revenues, notably taxes.  
 

Function / Program
Total Cost of 

Services Revenues
Net Cost of 

Services
Total Cost of 

Services Revenues
Net Cost of 

Services
Long Term Care Services 25,313,379$   23,887,394$   1,425,985$     25,402,222$   23,650,977$   * 1,751,245$     
Categorical Assistance 15,652,117     -                15,652,117     16,452,555     -                16,452,555     
Corrections 11,152,313     205,798         10,946,515     11,379,142     529,609         10,849,533     
Administration and Other 9,602,985      4,176,710      5,426,275      9,127,987      3,120,082      6,007,905      
Sheriff's Office 5,242,391      1,386,295      3,856,096      5,099,953      1,600,937      3,499,016      
County Attorney 2,959,649      279,322         2,680,327      2,756,275      253,458         2,502,817      

69,922,834$   29,935,519$   39,987,315$   70,218,134$   29,155,063$   41,063,071$   

Table 3 - Total and Net Cost of Services

2013 2014

 
 
*This amount reflects the budgetary net cost; actual net cost of services (a portion of which is reflected in 
Administration and Other) is $7,080,943 as cited in the December 31, 2014 Rockingham County Nursing Home 
Medicaid Cost Report. 
 

Function / Program
Net Cost of 

Services
Net Cost of 

Services

Change in 
Net Cost of 

Services
Long Term Care Services 1,425,985$   1,751,245$    325,260$     
Categorical Assistance 15,652,117   16,452,555$  800,438       
Corrections 10,946,515   10,849,533$  (96,982)       
Administration and Other 5,426,275     6,007,905$    581,630       
Sheriff's Office 3,856,096     3,499,016$    (357,080)      
County Attorney 2,680,327     2,502,817$    (177,510)      

39,987,315$ 41,063,071$  1,075,756$  

2013 2014

Table 4 - Comparative Net Cost of Services

 
 

Note: For Table 3 and Table 4 presentation purposes, Debt Interest costs are included in the 
“Administration and Other” function. 

 
The increase in net costs for Long Term Care Services in 2014 was largely due 
to decreased revenues which outpaced cost cutting measures taken by management. 
The increase in net costs for Categorical Assistance was mostly the result of the 
increased expenditure caps established by the State of New Hampshire. The 
increase in net costs for Administration and Other is primarily due to increases in 
legal expenses and debt interest expense. 
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The following chart is a graphical presentation of the components of the 2014 Net 
Costs of Services from Table 4. The primary source of funding for Net Costs is tax 
revenues. 

 

F. COUNTY GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-
term inflows, outflows, and balances of usable resources. Such information is 
useful in assessing the County’s financing requirements. Specifically, unassigned 
fund balance can be a useful measure of a government’s net resources available 
for spending at the end of the fiscal year. The General Fund is the chief operating 
fund of the County.  
 
As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both 
unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund appropriations. At 
December 31, 2014, unassigned fund balance represents 32% of total General 
Fund (budgeted) appropriations, while total fund balance represents 40.2% of 
that same amount. General Fund stabilization reserves totaling $19,673,889 
(currently a component of unassigned fund balance) represent 25% (equivalent 
to three months) of budgeted appropriations. 

Long Term Care 
Services
4.26%

Categorical Assistance
40.07%

Corrections
26.42%

Sheriff's Office
8.52%

County Attorney
6.10%

Administration and 
Other

14.63%

Net Cost of Services - by Function/Program for the Year 
Ending December 31, 2014
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G. CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital assets. At December 31, 2014 the County reported approximately 
$32.4 million in capital assets, net of depreciation, which includes construction in 
progress of approximately $2.6 million. These assets include land, buildings and 
improvements, machinery, equipment and furnishings, and vehicles. 
 
Long-term debt. At December 31, 2014 the County had approximately 
$12.4 million in outstanding long-term debt. Most of this amount is comprised 
of general obligation bonds issued in 2013, with the remaining balance including 
compensated absences, net OPEB obligation, and capital leases payable. 
 
Additional information on capital assets and long-term debt can be found in the 
notes to financial statements. 

H. ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES 

• Property taxes accounted for 57% of expected resources for 2014 and 
account for 58% of revenues in the 2015 budget.  

• The State of New Hampshire is revisiting its plan to institute a Managed Care 
Program, originally expected to be in place in late 2012. This program was 
predicted to have far reaching negative effects on the County nursing homes. 
The State has delayed its implementation and has begun discussion with the 
counties for alternate plans. 

• The caps for Categorical Assistance payments are expected to increase as 
part of the State’s new biennial budget proposal effective for July 1, 2015. 
Categorical Assistance will continue to be the largest net County expenditure, 
followed by Corrections.  

• Jail expenditures, including facility maintenance and correctional services, will 
be an increasing cost to the County. The County's ability to maintain a stable 
financial position and ample reserves, while continuing to control jail expendi-
tures, will be a key factor in the future and is dependent on the development 
of community corrections programs and State impacts on the court systems. 

 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

 
This financial report is intended to provide report users with a general overview of 
the County’s finances at December 31, 2014. Questions about this report can 
be directed to the Finance Office at 119 North Road, Brentwood, New Hampshire, 
03833. Additional information about the County of Rockingham can be found at 
www.co.rockingham.nh.us. 
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ASSETS
Current:

Cash and short-term investments $ 54,610,647  
Restricted cash 1,006,999    
Investments 73,750        
Receivables:

Accounts, net 1,254,955    
Due from other governments, net 2,835,009    

Due from fiduciary funds 171,475       
Prepaid expenses 274,428       
Inventory 768,801       
Other assets 13               

Total current assets 60,996,077  
Noncurrent:

Capital Assets:
Land 578,857       
Construction in progress 2,560,966    
Other assets, net of accumulated depreciation 29,225,123  

Total noncurrent assets 32,364,946  

TOTAL ASSETS 93,361,023  

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Liabilities
Current:

Accounts payable 1,394,602    
Accrued payroll and related liabilities 122,112       
Due to other governments 9,220,968    
Incurred but not reported claims liability 1,902,325    
Security deposits 14,512        
Accrued interest payable 107,102       
Current portion of noncurrent liabilities:
   Bonds payable 1,114,914    
   Capital leases payable 60,879        
   Compensated absences 534,441       

Total current liabilities 14,471,855  
Noncurrent:

Bonds payable, net of current portion 7,434,663    
Capital leases payable, net of current portion 2,378          
Compensated absences, net of current portion 2,338,588    
Net OPEB obligation 885,426       

Total noncurrent liabilities 10,661,055  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 25,132,910  

Deferred Inflows of Resources 17,152        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 25,150,062  

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 32,301,468
Restricted for:

Grants and other statutory restrictions 447,464       
Permanent funds:

Nonexpendable 28,153        
Unrestricted 35,433,876  

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 68,210,961  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Governmental
Activities

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2014
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Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities
Governmental Activities:

Long Term Care Services:
Nursing home $ 23,781,111 $ 22,016,882 $ -        $ -        $ (1,764,229)
Assisted living 1,621,111 1,634,095  -        -        12,984

Categorical Assistance:
Public assistance 16,452,555 -            -        -        (16,452,555)

Corrections 11,379,142 366,669     -        162,940 (10,849,533)
Administration and Other:

Maintenance 3,983,816 32,567       -        -        (3,951,249)
General government 1,403,148 -            -        -        (1,403,148)
Deeds 1,158,443 3,073,901  -        -        1,915,458
Finance 972,639 -            -        -        (972,639)
Information technology 258,503 13,614       -        -        (244,889)
Human resources 315,447 -            -        -        (315,447)
Interest 360,851 -            -        -        (360,851)
Non-county specials 248,750 -            -        -        (248,750)
Commissioners 171,763 -            -        -        (171,763)
Delegation 187,521 -            -        -        (187,521)
Medical examiner 62,086 -            -        -        (62,086)
Treasurer 5,020 -            -        -        (5,020)

Sheriff's Office:
Sheriff/dispatch/radio 5,099,953 1,360,576  240,361 -        (3,499,016)

County Attorney 2,756,275 225,103     28,355   -        (2,502,817)

Total Governmental Activities $ 70,218,134 $ 28,723,407 $ 268,716 $ 162,940 (41,063,071) 

  General Revenues:
Taxes 44,809,156
Investment income 58,429
Miscellaneous 943,430

  Total general revenues 45,811,015

Change in Net Position 4,747,944

  Net Position:
Beginning of year 63,463,017

End of year $ 68,210,961

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Program Revenues Net (Expenses) Revenues
and Changes in Net Position
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Capital Nonmajor Total
Projects Governmental Governmental

General Fund Funds Funds

Cash and short-term investments $ 34,455,843 $ 8,550,554 $ 74,883 $ 43,081,280 
Restricted cash 790,685 -           216,314 1,006,999   
Investments -             -           73,750  73,750        
Receivables:

Accounts, net 1,223,102   -           84         1,223,186   
Due from other governments, net 2,713,548   -           -        2,713,548   

Due from other funds 4,316,504   615,458    170,672 5,102,634   
Prepaid expenses 149,355      -           -        149,355      
Inventory 768,801      -           -        768,801      
Other assets 13              -           -        13              

TOTAL ASSETS $ 44,417,851 $ 9,166,012 $ 535,703 $ 54,119,566 

Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,030,846   $ 183,959    $ -        $ 1,214,805   
Accrued payroll and related liabilities 122,112      -           -        122,112      
Due to other funds 2,380,769   432,696    60,086  2,873,551   
Due to other governments 9,219,351   -           -        9,219,351   
Security deposits 14,512       -           -        14,512        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 12,767,590 616,655    60,086  13,444,331 

DEFERRED INFlOWS OF RESOURCES 8,004         -           -        8,004         

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid expenses 149,355 -           -        149,355      
Inventory 768,801 -           -        768,801      
Nonexpendable permanent funds -             -           28,153  28,153        

Total Nonspendable 918,156      -           28,153  946,309      

Restricted:
Long term care (RSA 24:13) 441,161      -           -        441,161      
Capital projects -             7,469,178 -        7,469,178   
Special revenue funds -             -           447,464 447,464      

Total Restricted 441,161      7,469,178 447,464 8,357,803   

Assigned:
Subsequent year budget 5,178,000 -           -        5,178,000   
Encumbrances 168,423 1,080,179 -        1,248,602   

Total Assigned 5,346,423   1,080,179 -        6,426,602   

Unassigned 24,936,517 -           -        24,936,517 

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 31,642,257 8,549,357 475,617 40,667,231 

$ 44,417,851 $ 9,166,012 $ 535,703 $ 54,119,566 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF

ASSETS

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

BALANCE SHEET

DECEMBER 31, 2014

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES
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Total governmental fund balances $ 40,667,231 

 Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 32,364,946 

 Internal service funds are used by management to account for
certain activities. The assets and liabilities of the internal service
funds are included in the governmental activities in the Statement of
Net Position. 6,120,302   

 In the Statement of Activities, interest is accrued on outstanding 
long-term debt, whereas in governmental funds interest is not
reported until due. (107,102)     

 Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds:

     Bonds payable (8,549,577)  

     Capital leases payable (63,257)       

     Compensated absences (unfunded) (1,336,156)  

     Net OPEB obligation (885,426)     

Net position of governmental activities $ 68,210,961 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

DECEMBER 31, 2014

RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND
BALANCES TO NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES IN THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
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Capital Nonmajor Total
Projects Governmental Governmental

General Fund Funds Funds

Revenues:
Taxes $ 44,809,156 $ -           $ -         $ 44,809,156
Charges for services 28,488,880 -           276,444 28,765,324
Intergovernmental 230,548 -           -         230,548
Investment income 42,629 14,272 1,232 58,133
Miscellaneous 641,398 83            -         641,481

Total Revenues 74,212,611 14,355 277,676 74,504,642

Expenditures:
Current:

Long Term Care Services:
Nursing home 23,446,088 -           -         23,446,088
Assisted living 1,524,410 -           -         1,524,410

Categorical Assistance:
Public assistance 16,452,595 -           -         16,452,595

Corrections 11,179,722 -           -         11,179,722
Administration and Other:

Maintenance 3,679,175 -           -         3,679,175
General government 1,307,958 -           -         1,307,958
Deeds 1,196,703 -           -         1,196,703
Finance 993,821 -           -         993,821
Grants 234,548 -           -         234,548
Information technology 269,418 -           -         269,418
Human resources 329,585 -           -         329,585
Non-county specials 248,750 -           -         248,750
Commissioners 159,257 -           -         159,257
Delegation 189,907 -           -         189,907
Medical examiner 62,086 -           -         62,086
Treasurer 11,930 -           -         11,930

Sheriff's Office:
Sheriff/dispatch/radio 5,157,758 -           92,593    5,250,351

County Attorney 2,921,619 -           -         2,921,619
Capital outlay 25,431 1,690,876 -         1,716,307
Debt service:

Principal 525,000      319,449 -         844,449
Interest 399,651      7,074        -         406,725

Total Expenditures 70,315,412 2,017,399 92,593 72,425,404

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures 3,897,199 (2,003,044) 185,083 2,079,238

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers in 208,794 1,015,943 -         1,224,737
Transfers out (1,015,943) -           (208,794) (1,224,737)
Transfer of ProShare funds (1,485,978) 1,485,978 -         -             

(3,413,237) -           -         (3,413,237)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (5,706,364) 2,501,921 (208,794) (3,413,237)

Change in fund balance (1,809,165) 498,877 (23,711) (1,333,999)

Fund Equity, at Beginning of Year 33,451,422 8,050,480 499,328 42,001,230

Fund Equity, at End of Year $ 31,642,257 $ 8,549,357 $ 475,617 $ 40,667,231

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Transfer of prior year committed funds

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014
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$ (1,333,999)

 Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,
in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated
over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense:

Capital asset purchases 2,260,343

Capital asset donations 162,940

Disposal of capital assets (5,921)       

Depreciation (2,471,356)

 The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds and capital leases) provides
 current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment
 of the principal of long-term debt consumes the financial resources of
 governmental funds.  Neither transaction, however, has any effect on 
net position:

Repayments of debt - bonds 525,000

Repayments of debt - capital leases 410,259

Amortization of bond premium 157,238

 In the Statement of Activities, interest is accrued on outstanding 
long-term debt, whereas in governmental funds interest is not 
reported until due. 37,989

 Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities, such as
compensated absences, do not require the use of current financial 
resources and therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the 
governmental funds.

Compensated absences - change in unfunded liability 519,884

Net OPEB obligation (84,770)

 Internal service funds are used by management to account for certain
activities. The net activity of internal service funds is reported with
governmental activities. 4,570,337

$ 4,747,944

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Net changes in fund balances - Total governmental funds

Change in net position of governmental activities

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
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Actual
Amounts

Original Final (Budgetary
Budget Budget Basis)

Beginning Budgetary Fund Balance $ 4,735,935   $ 4,735,935   $ 4,735,935   $ -             

Revenues (Inflows):
Taxes 44,809,156  44,809,156  44,809,156 -             
Charges for services:

Long Term Care Services:   
Nursing home 20,787,643  20,787,643  22,005,941 1,218,298   
Assisted living 1,520,657   1,520,657   1,633,995   113,338      

Corrections 142,001      142,001      326,896      184,895      
Administration and Other:

Deeds 2,910,000   2,910,000   2,971,869   61,869       
Property management 23,200        23,200        19,377        (3,823)        
Information technology 15,000        15,000        13,614        (1,386)        
Maintenance -             -             13,190        13,190       

Sheriff's Office:
Sheriff/dispatch/radio 1,236,841   1,236,841   1,250,541   13,700       

County Attorney 293,682      293,682      253,457      (40,225)      
Intergovernmental 1,966,443   1,966,443   230,548      (1,735,895)  
Investment income 50,000        50,000        42,629        (7,371)        
Miscellaneous 16,000        16,000        641,398      625,398      
Transfers from other funds 189,000      189,000      208,794      19,794       

Amounts Available for Appropriation 78,695,558  78,695,558  79,157,340 461,782      

Charges to Appropriations (Outflows):
Current:

Long Term Care Services:
Nursing home 25,860,472  25,860,403  23,395,640 2,464,763   
Assisted living 1,663,857   1,663,857   1,522,842   141,015      

Categorical Assistance:
Public assistance 16,638,468  16,615,968  16,452,595 163,373      

Corrections 12,351,600  12,304,675  11,179,722 1,124,953   
Administration and Other:

Maintenance 3,868,023   3,870,624   3,667,432   203,192      
General government 1,905,269   1,926,540   1,307,958   618,582      
Deeds 1,322,494   1,322,494   1,196,703   125,791      
Finance 1,202,463   1,202,463   993,821      208,642      
Grants 2,066,443   2,066,443   234,548      1,831,895   
Information technology 341,265      341,265      269,418      71,847       
Human resources 349,566      349,566      329,585      19,981       
Non-county specials 248,750      248,750      248,750      -             
Commissioners 174,371      174,371      159,257      15,114       
Delegation 208,489      208,489      189,907      18,582       
Medical examiner 53,504        58,904        62,086        (3,182)        
Treasurer 15,606        15,606        11,930        3,676         

Sheriff's Office:  
Sheriff/dispatch/radio 5,322,869   5,368,491   5,157,757   210,734      

County Attorney 3,167,770   3,162,370   2,921,619   240,751      
Capital outlay 45,536        45,536        25,431        20,105       
Debt service:

Principal 525,000      525,000      525,000      -             
Interest 347,800      347,800      399,651      (51,851)      

Transfers to other funds 1,015,943   1,015,943   1,015,943   -             

Total Charges to Appropriations 78,695,558  78,695,558  71,267,595 7,427,963   

Ending Budgetary Fund Balance $ -             $ -             $ 7,889,745   $ 7,889,745   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

GENERAL FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND OTHER SOURCES,
AND EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

Positive
Final Budget
Variance with

(Negative)
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Activities
Internal
Service
Funds

Current:
Cash and short-term investments $ 11,529,367 
Receivables:

Accounts 31,769       
Due from other governments 121,461      

Due from other funds 1,627,826   
Prepaid expenses 125,073      

Total current assets 13,435,496 

TOTAL ASSETS 13,435,496 

OF RESOURCES

Liabilities
Current:

Accounts payable 179,797      
Due to other governments 1,617
Due to other funds 3,685,434   
Incurred but not reported claims liability 1,902,325   
Current portion of noncurrent liabilities:

Compensated absences 534,441

Total current liabilities 6,303,614   
Noncurrent:

Compensated absences, net of current portion 1,002,432   

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,002,432   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,306,046   

Deferred Inflows of Resources 9,148         

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED 
INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 7,315,194   

Unrestricted 6,120,302   

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 6,120,302   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

NET POSITION

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS 

DECEMBER 31, 2014

Governmental
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Activities
Internal
Service
Fund

Operating Revenues:
Employee and employer contributions $ 10,002,595

Total Operating Revenues 10,002,595

Operating Expenses:
Employee benefits 8,740,435

Total Operating Expenses 8,740,435

Operating Income (Loss) 1,262,160

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Investment income 297
Miscellaneous (105,357)   

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses), Net (105,060)

Income (Loss) Before Transfers 1,157,100

Transfers:
Transfers in 3,413,237

Change in Net Position 4,570,337

Net Position at Beginning of Year 1,549,965

Net Position at End of Year $ 6,120,302

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

Governmental
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Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service
Fund

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Receipts from users $ 9,985,258    
Payments to providers (7,860,559)   
Payments to employees (1,000,074)   
Other receipts (payments) 1,888,076    

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 3,012,701    

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:
Net change in due to/from other funds 2,151,232    
Transfers from other funds 3,413,237    

Net Cash Provided By Noncapital Financing Activities 5,564,469    

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Investment income 297             

Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities 297             

Net Change in Cash and Short-Term Investments 8,577,467    

Cash and Short-Term Investments, Beginning of Year 2,951,900    

Cash and Short-Term Investments, End of Year $ 11,529,367  

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash 
Provided By (Used For) Operating Activities:

Operating income (loss) $ 1,262,160    
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) (105,357)      
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (17,337)       
Due from other governments (51,883)       
Prepaid expenses (120,198)      
Accounts payable 133,465       
Due to other governments 1,617          
Incurred but not reported claims liability 369,319       
Accrued compensated absences 1,536,873    
Deferred inflows of resources 4,042          

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities $ 3,012,701    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014
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Agency
Funds

Cash and short-term investments $ 394,471
Accounts receivable 25

Total Assets $ 394,496

Accounts payable $ 397
Due to other funds 171,475
Due to specific individuals 222,624

Total Liabilities $ 394,496

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2014
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COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies of the County of Rockingham, New Hampshire 
(the County) conform to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
as applicable to governmental units. The governmental accounting standards 
board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing govern-
mental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of 
the GASB’s generally accepted accounting principles applicable to the County, 
and the County’s conformity with such principles, are described below. These 
disclosures are an integral part of the County’s financial statements. 

A. Reporting Entity 

The County of Rockingham, New Hampshire is a body corporate governed 
by a Commissioner form of government and provides County services as 
authorized by state statutes. As required by GAAP, specifically State-
ment 14 (as amended) of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
The Financial Reporting Entity”, these financial statements are required to 
present County of Rockingham, New Hampshire and its “component units” 
(if any). A primary government is defined by the GASB as any state gov-
ernment or general purpose local government. Additionally, a primary 
government may also consist of a special-purpose government (such as a 
school district) that meets all of the following criteria: (a) it has a separately 
elected governing body, (b) it is legally separate, and (c) it is fiscally inde-
pendent of other governments. 
 
A component unit is defined by the GASB as a legally separate organization 
for which the elected officials of the primary government are “financially 
accountable”. The primary government is financially accountable if it 
appoints a voting majority of the organization’s governing body and (1) it is 
able to impose its will on that organization or (2) there is a potential for the 
organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific 
financial burdens on the primary government. A primary government may 
also be financially accountable if an organization is “fiscally dependent” on 
the primary government. Fiscal independency is defined by the GASB as 
the ability to complete certain essential fiscal events without substantive 
approval by a primary government, (a) determine its budget without another 
government’s having the authority to approve and modify that budget, (b) 
levy taxes or set rates or charges without approval by another government, 
and (c) issue bonded debt without approval by another government. For the 
current year there were no potential component units identified upon which 
the application of these criteria were applied. 
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B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

Government-wide Financial Statements 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net 
Position and the Statement of Activities) report information on all of the 
nonfiduciary activities of the primary government. For the most part, the 
effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 
Governmental activities, which are normally supported by taxes, charges 
for services, and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately 
from business-type activities, which rely to a great degree on external 
fees and charges for support. 
 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct 
expenses of a given function or segment is offset by program revenues. 
Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific func-
tion or segment. Program revenues include (1) charges to customers or 
applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or 
privileges provided by a given function or segment and (2) grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items 
not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as 
general revenues. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, propri-
etary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from 
the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental 
funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement 
Presentation 

Government-wide Financial Statements 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the eco-
nomic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, 
as well as the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. 
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants 
and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. As a general rule, 
the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include (1) charges to customers 
or applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, (2) operating 
grants and contributions, and (3) capital grants and contributions, includ-
ing special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as 
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general revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general 
revenues include all taxes. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current 
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of 
accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measur-
able and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they 
are collectible within the current period and available to pay current liabili-
ties. Generally, all other revenue items are considered to be measurable 
and available only when cash is received by the government. Expendi-
tures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures 
related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are 
recorded only when payment is due. 
 
The County reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

• The General Fund is used to account for the resources traditionally 
associated with government operations, which are not required 
legally to be accounted for in some other fund. The General Fund 
is the overall operating entity of the County. 

 
• The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the acquisition or 

construction of fixed assets. 
 
Non-major governmental funds provide for special revenue and 
permanent fund activity. 
 
Proprietary Funds are used to account for activities similar to those found 
in the private sector, where the determination of net income is necessary 
or useful to sound financial administration. Goods or services from such 
activities can be provided either to outside parties or to other departments 
or agencies primarily within the County. The self-insured risk management 
programs are operated by the County and are accounted for as proprietary 
(internal service) funds in accordance with GASB Statement 10, “Account-
ing and Financial Reporting for Risk financing and Related Insured 
Issues”. 
 
Fiduciary funds are generally used to account for assets that the gov-
ernment holds on behalf of others. The County currently has the following 
individual agency funds: (1) Inmate Funds - To account for funds held by 
the County for individuals incarcerated at the County Corrections Facility, 
and (2) Residents Funds - To account for funds held by the County for 
individuals living in the Long Term Care facility. 
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D. Cash and Short-Term Investments 

Cash balances from all funds, except those required to be segregated by 
law, are combined to form a consolidation of cash. Cash balances are 
invested to the extent available, and interest earnings are recognized in 
the General Fund. Certain capital project and special revenue funds, 
proprietary, and fiduciary funds segregate cash, and investment earnings 
become a part of those funds. 

 
Deposits with financial institutions consist primarily of demand deposits, 
certificates of deposits, and savings accounts. A cash and investment pool 
is maintained that is available for use by all funds. Each fund’s portion of 
this pool is reflected on the financial statements under the caption “cash 
and short-term investments”. The interest earnings attributable to each 
fund type are included under investment income.  

 
For purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, the proprietary funds con-
sider investments with original maturities of three months or less to be 
short-term investments. 

E. Investments 

The County Treasurer is authorized by state statutes to invest excess 
funds, with the approval of the Commissioners, in the following: 
 

• Obligations of the United States Government, 

• Savings bank deposits of banks incorporated under the laws of the 
State of New Hampshire, 

• Certificates of deposits of banks incorporated under the laws of the 
State of New Hampshire or in national banks located within the 
States of New Hampshire or Massachusetts, or, 

• “Participation units” of the New Hampshire Public Deposit 
Investment Pool established under RSA 383:22. 

 
The receiver of such public funds to be deposited or to be invested in 
securities shall “prior to acceptance of such funds” provide a collateraliza-
tion option (represented by exclusively segregated securities defined by 
the Bank Commissioner as qualifying under RSA 386:57) for such funds 
in an amount at least equal to the amount to be deposited or invested in 
securities. 
 
The County was in compliance with these applicable deposit and investment 
state laws and regulations for the year. 
 
Investments are stated at fair value, in accordance with GASB State-
ment 31, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments 
and for External Investment Pools”. The fair value of investments is based 
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on current market prices. Fair value fluctuates with interest rates and 
increasing rates could cause fair value to decline below original cost. 
County management believes that liquidity in the portfolio is more than 
adequate to meet cash flow requirements and to preclude the County from 
having to sell investments below original cost for that purpose.  

F. Interfund Receivables and Payables 

Interfund receivables and payables arise from interfund transactions and 
are recorded by all funds affected in the period in which the transactions 
are executed. Any residual balances outstanding between the funds are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as internal balances.  

G. Inventory 

Inventory is valued at cost using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. The 
costs of governmental fund-type inventory is recorded as an expenditure 
when purchased rather than when consumed. Significant inventory bal-
ances on hand in governmental funds at year end are reported as assets 
of the respective fund, with an offsetting nonspendable fund balance. 

H. Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include land, construction in progress, buildings and 
improvements, machinery, equipment and furnishings, and vehicles, are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are 
defined by the County as assets with an initial individual cost of more than 
$5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of three years, except for the 
Nursing Home, where assets are capitalized at $500 or more with a useful 
life of at least three years.  
 
All Long Term Care fixed assets, including those of the Nursing Home, are 
valued at historical cost. As of November 2001, other County assets were 
valued at estimated cost and subsequent additions are recorded at actual 
cost. Donated assets are recorded at the estimated fair market value at 
the date of donation.  
 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value 
of the asset or materially extend the life of the asset are not capitalized. 
Also, interest costs that are deemed to be immaterial and not directly allo-
cable to a specific asset are expensed when incurred. 
 
The infrastructure assets owned and maintained by the County include only 
utility tunnels, drainage systems, water and sewer systems and dams and 
are included in the cost of the building and improvements the infrastructure 
is most identified with. Condition assessments are performed regularly and 
the results are used to budget annually the amount necessary to maintain 
and preserve the infrastructure. 
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The County has a sizable amount of capital asset projects in process 
at December 31, 2014 totaling $2,560,966. The projects in process are 
included in the reporting of $32,364,946 net capital assets in the related 
statements. Once a project is completed it is reported in the asset cate-
gory (see Note 9). 
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
following estimated useful lives: 
 

Assets Years

Buildings and improvements 10 - 30
Machinery, equipment, and furnishings   3 - 15
Vehicles   4 - 10  

I. Compensated Absences 

Certain County employees are entitled to compensated absences based, 
in part, on their length of employment. In accordance with GASB State-
ment 16, “Accounting for Compensated Absences”, compensated absences 
that are expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial 
resources are reported as an expenditure and a liability of the fund that 
will pay it. The total liability at December 31, 2014 is $2,873,029. 
 
Until December 31, 2011, the County had a Compensated Absences 
Fund; a proprietary fund that had provided funding for known separations 
and long term absences. Since its creation, the fund had increased its 
amount of funding available to provide for the growing liability. The fund 
accounted for all funded liabilities and expenditures. Any expense 
ineligible for fund use based on County policy was accounted for through 
the General Fund. Pursuant to GASB Statement 34, “Basic Financial 
Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and 
Local Governments”, the fund was closed effective December 31, 2011. 
The fund reopened January 1, 2014. The funded portion of the compen-
sated absences liability reported in the Compensated Absences Fund at 
December 31, 2014 is $1,536,873. Any liability for which no funding is 
currently available is reported in the government wide Statement of Net 
Position long term liabilities. 
 
The calculation of compensated absences can include vacation, sick time, 
earned time and holiday pay that are attributable to past service in which it 
is probable that the County will compensate the employee through paid 
time off or cash payment. The calculation also includes the incremental 
cost of any item associated with compensation payments such as the 
employer share of Social Security, Medicare and retirement.  
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J. Long-Term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in 
the fund financial statements, long-term debt, and other long-term obliga-
tions are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities or 
proprietary fund type Statement of Net Position. 

K. Fund Equity 

Fund equity at the governmental fund financial reporting level is classified 
as “fund balance”. Fund equity for all other reporting is classified as “net 
position”. 
 
Fund Balance – Generally, fund balance represents the difference 
between current assets and current liabilities/deferred inflows. The 
County reserves those portions of fund balance that are legally segre-
gated for a specific future use or which do not represent available, 
spendable resources and, therefore, are not available for appropriation 
or expenditure. For governmental funds, unassigned fund balances 
represent the amount that may be available for budgeting future opera-
tions. The County has set and exceeded a financial management goal of 
attaining an unassigned fund balance of at least three months of budgeted 
appropriations. 
 
The County’s fund balance classification policies are as follows: 
 
1) Nonspendable funds are either unspendable in the current form 

($149,355 and $768,801 for prepaid expenses and inventory, respec-
tively, as of December 31, 2014) or can never be spent ($28,153 
principal portion of permanent fund as of December 31, 2014). 

2) Restricted funds are used solely for the purpose in which the fund was 
established. In the case of amounts restricted for Long Term Care, these 
funds are created by statute or otherwise have external constraints on 
how the funds can be expended. The County’s special revenue funds fall 
under this category. 

3) Committed funds are reported and expended as a result of motions 
passed by the highest decision making authority in the County (i.e., the 
Board of County Commissioners).  

4) Assigned funds are used for specific purposes as established by 
management. These funds, which include encumbrances, have been 
assigned for specific goods and services ordered but not yet paid for. 
The amount of fund balance designated for use in the next year to 
reduce the tax burden is categorized as assigned.  

5) Unassigned funds are available to be spent in future periods. The 
County has made it a goal to maintain fund balance reserves (currently 
part of unassigned funds) equivalent to at least three months of current 
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year appropriations. The County has continually been able to meet and 
exceed this measure, with three months of reserves being equivalent to 
$19,673,889 for 2014, with an ending unassigned balance amount of 
$24,936,517. The intent of the County was for these reserves to be part 
of committed fund balance for 2014. 

 
When an expenditure is incurred that would qualify for payment from 
multiple fund balance types, the County uses the following order to 
liquidate liabilities: restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned. 
 
Net Position – Net position represents the difference between assets 
and liabilities/deferred inflows. Net investment in capital assets consists of 
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding 
balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction or improve-
ment of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there are 
limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation 
adopted by the County or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, 
grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments. The remaining net 
position is reported as unrestricted. 

L. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosures for contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the basic 
financial statements, and the reported amounts of the revenues and 
expenditures/expenses during the fiscal year. Actual results could vary 
from estimates that were used. 

2. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

A. Budgetary Information 

Governmental revenues and expenditures are controlled by a formal inte-
grated budgetary system which is substantially consistent with both gener-
ally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and applicable State finance-
related laws and regulations which govern the County’s operations. The 
County budget is formally acted upon at the County Convention. During 
the year, appropriations may be transferred between line items, but total 
expenditures may not exceed the total approved budget (with the excep-
tion of emergency items, which require approval by the New Hampshire 
Department of Revenue Administration under RSA 32). At year end, all 
unencumbered annual appropriations lapse. Other appropriations, which 
have a longer than annual authority may carry over at year end if the gov-
erning body intends to continue or complete the special purpose for which 
the funds were established. State legislation also requires balanced bud-
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gets. For the County year ended December 31, 2014, $4,378,000 of the 
beginning General Fund unassigned fund balance was used to reduce 
taxes. 

B. Encumbrances 

Encumbrance accounting is utilized in the governmental funds to account 
for commitments relating to unperformed contracts for goods and services. 
Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are reported as assigned fund 
balance and do not constitute expenditures or liabilities of the govern-
mental fund, but are carried forward to supplement appropriations of the 
succeeding year. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end in the General 
Fund are detailed by function as follows: 
 

Long Term Care Services $ 6,160
Corrections 7,550
Administration and Other:

Maintenance 4,612
General government 8,375
Deeds 25,904
Finance 114,156
Information technology 1,666

Total Encumbrances $ 168,423
 

C. Budgetary Basis 

The General Fund final appropriation appearing on the “Budget and Actual” 
page of the fund financial statements represents the final amended budget 
after all transfers and supplemental appropriations. 

D. Budget/GAAP Reconciliation 

The budgetary data for the General Fund is based upon accounting prin-
ciples that differ from generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 
Therefore, in addition to the GAAP basis financial statements, the results 
of operations of the General Fund are presented in accordance with bud-
getary accounting principles to provide a meaningful comparison with 
budgetary data. 
 
The following is a summary of adjustments made to the actual revenues 
and other sources, and expenditures and other uses, to conform to the 
budgetary basis of accounting. 
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General Fund

Revenues/Expenditures
(GAAP Basis) $ 74,212,611 $ 70,315,412 
Other financing sources/uses
(GAAP Basis) 208,794      5,915,158   
     Subtotal (GAAP Basis) 74,421,405 76,230,570 
Adjustment for inventory budgeted 
on the cash basis -               (63,760)        
Reverse unbudgeted transfers out (4,899,215)  
Recognize use of fund balance as 
funding source 4,735,935   -               
     Budgetary Basis $ 79,157,340 $ 71,267,595 

Revenues Expenditures
and Other and Other

Financing Sources Financing Uses

 

3. Cash and Short-Term Investments 

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits. Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the 
event of a bank failure, the County’s deposits may not be returned to it. 
RSA 48:16 limits “deposit in any one bank shall not at any time exceed the 
sum of its paid-up capital and surplus.” The County’s deposit policy for 
custodial credit risk is that all deposits with banks are to be fully insured 
and collateralized.  
 
As of December 31, 2014, the County’s bank balance of $56,657,223 was 
fully insured or collateralized.  

4. Restricted Cash 

Restricted cash represents cash and cash equivalents where use is limited 
by legal requirements. Within the Governmental Funds, the General Fund 
restricted cash amount of $790,685 is composed of a $441,161 non-lapsing 
reserve account to fund Long Term Care Services (established in accordance 
with RSA 24:13) and $349,524 for an account that is segregated for LCHIP 
surcharges (in accordance with RSA 478:17-g). These surcharges are col-
lected by the Registry of Deeds, remitted to the State and are used to fund 
the State of New Hampshire’s Land and Community Heritage Investment 
Program (“LCHIP”), which was established with RSA 227-M. 
 
The $216,314 restricted cash that is part of Nonmajor Governmental Funds is 
composed of amounts from the Nursing Home Special Account and Deeds 
Equipment funds, both of which are special revenue funds. The cash for each 
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of these funds is restricted as it can only be disbursed for expenditures as 
appropriated by the County Convention for Long Term Care Services and the 
Registry of Deeds, respectively. 

5. Investments 

A. Credit Risk 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill 
its obligation to the holder of the investment. State law employs the prudent 
person rule whereby investments are made as a prudent person would be 
expected to act, with discretion and intelligence, to seek reasonable income, 
preserve capital, and, in general, avoid speculative investments.  

 
Presented below is the actual rating as of year-end for the investments of the 
County. (All federal agency securities have an implied credit rating of AAA.): 
 

Minimum Exempt
Fair Legal From Not

Investment Type Value Rating Aaa Aa Rated

Mutual funds $ 73,750 N/A $ 73,750 $ -       $ -       $ -       

Total investments $ 73,750 $ 73,750 $ -       $ -       $ -       

Rating as of Year-end

Disclosure

 

B. Custodial Credit Risk 

The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the 
failure of the counterparty (e.g. broker-dealer) to a transaction, the County 
will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securi-
ties that are in the possession of another party. The County has formal 
policies for custodial credit risk.  

 
The County has a custodial credit risk exposure of $73,750 because the 
related securities are uninsured, unregistered and held by the County’s 
brokerage firm, which is also the counterparty to these securities. The 
County manages this custodial credit risk with SIPC and excess SIPC. 

C. Concentration of Credit Risk 

The County places no limit on the amount that may be invested in any one 
issuer. At December 31, 2014, no investments in any one issuer represent 
5% or more of total investments. 

D. Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates 
will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. The County does not 
have a policy for foreign currency risk. 
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6. Accounts Receivable, Net 

Accounts receivable consist of the following at December 31, 2014: 
 

Nursing home $ 1,318,389 $ 45       $ -        $ 1,318,434
Refunding of advanced lease payments 191,366 -      -        191,366
Health premiums 19,418 -      23,954 43,372
Outside detail 33,056 -      -        33,056
Vendor credits 19,826     -      1,501   21,327
Civil services 17,145 -      -        17,145
Assisted living 13,705 -      -        13,705
Energy efficiency rebate program 9,000        -      -        9,000
Phone commissions 6,255 -      -        6,255
Adult Diversion Program 3,800 -      -        3,800
Deeds 3,413 -      -        3,413
Other 3,566 39       6,314   9,919

   Total 1,638,939 84       31,769 1,670,792

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (415,837) -      -        (415,837)

Total accounts receivable, net $ 1,223,102 $ 84       $ 31,769 $ 1,254,955

Total
General

Fund

Nonmajor
Governmental

Funds

Internal
Service

Fund

 

7. Due From Other Governments, Net 

Due from other governments consist of the following at December 31, 2014: 
 

State of New Hampshire $ 2,128,716 $ 121,461 $ 2,250,177
U.S. Treasury 1,357,219 -      1,357,219
Other 21,871 -      21,871

   Total 3,507,806 121,461 3,629,267

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (794,258) -      (794,258)

Total due from other governments, net $ 2,713,548 $ 121,461 $ 2,835,009

Service
Fund

Internal

Total
General

Fund

 

8. Interfund Fund Receivables/Payables 

Although self-balancing funds are maintained, most transactions flow through 
the General Fund. In order to obtain accountability for each fund, interfund 
receivable and payable accounts must be utilized. The following is an analy-
sis of the December 31, 2014 balances in interfund receivable and payable 
accounts: 
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     Fund

General Fund $ 4,316,504 $ 2,380,769 
Special Revenue Funds:
   Expendable Trust -           28,043      
   Nursing Home Special Account -           14,489      
   Assisted Living Donations 7,071       -           
   Inmate Commissary 152,606    -           
   Inmate Chapel 10,475      -           
   Deeds Equipment 520          -           
Capital Projects Fund 615,458    432,696    
Internal Service Funds:

Health 1,142,570 2,633,905
   Dental 241,621    133,571    
   Workers' Compensation 108,929    192,968    

Compensated Absences 134,706    724,990    
Permanent Trust Fund -           17,554      
Agency Funds:
   Inmates -           113,134    
   Nursing Home Residents -           10,423      
   Assisted Living Security Deposits -           47,918      

     Total $ 6,730,460 $ 6,730,460 

Due From
Other Funds

Due To
Other Funds

 

9. Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2014 was as follows 
(in thousands): 

Governmental Activities:
  Capital assets, being depreciated:
    Buildings and improvements $ 55,689  $ 218     $ -    $ 55,907  
    Machinery, equipment, and furnishings 12,938  455     (79)    13,314  
    Vehicles 1,483    216     (198)  1,501    

    Total capital assets, being depreciated 70,110  889     (277)  70,722  

  Less accumulated depreciation for:
    Buildings and improvements (30,982) (1,670) -    (32,652) 
    Machinery, equipment, and furnishings (7,080)   (653)    74     (7,659)   
    Vehicles (1,236)   (148)    198   (1,186)   

    Total accumulated depreciation (39,298) (2,471) 272   (41,497) 

    Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 30,812  (1,582) (5)     29,225  

  Capital assets, not being depreciated:
    Land 579       -      -    579       
    Construction in progress 1,028    1,632  (99)    2,561    

    Total capital assets, not being depreciated 1,607    1,632  (99)    3,140    

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 32,419  $ 50       $ (104)  $ 32,365  

Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending 
Balance
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions of the County as follows: 
 

Governmental Activities:
Long Term Care Services:

Nursing home $ 1,118,464
Assisted living 159,617

Corrections 585,934
Administration and Other:

Maintenance 357,055
General government 28,521
Deeds 9,503
Finance 693
Information technology 4,877
Human resources 7,803
Commissioners 23,994
Delegation 604

Sheriff's Office:
Sheriff/dispatch/radio 170,803

County Attorney 3,488

          Total $ 2,471,356
 

10. Accounts Payable 

Accounts payable represent 2014 expenditures paid after December 31, 2014. 

11. Due To Other Governments 

Due to other governments consist of the following at December 31, 2014: 
 

Internal
General Service

Fund Fund Total

State of New Hampshire $ 9,084,445 $ 1,617 $ 9,086,062 *
Hillsborough County 70,380 -    70,380
Other 64,526 -    64,526

  Total $ 9,219,351 $ 1,617 $ 9,220,968

* = Includes approximately $2.4 million of transfer taxes and $5.8
     million related to human services liabilities.  
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12. Tax Anticipation Notes Payable 

In 2014, the County issued tax anticipation notes in advance of property tax 
collections, depositing the proceeds in the General Fund. These notes were 
necessary because property taxes are a major source of funding for appro-
priations but the tax collections are not received until shortly before their 
December 18, 2014 due date. The annual interest rate for the notes was 
0.50%, with a net interest cost of 0.214% after taking into account the premium 
paid by the purchaser. 
 
The following summarizes activity of tax anticipation notes payable during 2014: 
 

Balance Balance
Beginning 8/1/2014 12/18/2014 End of

of Year Proceeds Repayment

Tax anticipation $ -       $ 7,500,000 $ (7,500,000) $ -       

Year

 

13. Long-Term Debt 

A. Changes in General Long-Term Liabilities 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the following changes occurred 
in long-term liabilities (in thousands): 

Governmental Activities
Bonds payable $ 8,695   $ -   $ (525)    $ 8,170   $ (985)    $ 7,185   
Bond premium 537      -   (157)    380      (130)    250      

Subtotal 9,232   -   (682)    8,550   (1,115) 7,435   

Other:
  Capital leases payable 473      -   (410)    63       (61)      2         
  Compensated absences 3,006   -   (133)    2,873   (534)    2,339   
  Net OPEB obligation 801      268  (184)    885      -      885      

Totals $ 13,512 $ 268  $ (1,409) $ 12,371 $ (1,710) $ 10,661 

Equals
Total Total Less Long-Term

Balance Balance Current Portion
1/1/14 Additions Reductions 12/31/14 Portion 12/31/14

 

B. General Obligation Bonds 

The County issues general obligation debt instruments to provide funds for 
the acquisition and construction of major capital equipment, infrastructure, 
and other facilities. General obligation debt instruments are direct govern-
ment obligations and consequently are a pledge of the full faith and credit 
of the County. General obligation debt instruments currently outstanding 
are as follows: 
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Serial 
Maturities Interest

Governmental Activities: Through Rate(s) %

General Obligation Municipal Purpose 
   Loan of 2013 Bonds 5/15/23 3.0 - 4.0% $ 8,170,000 

Amount

as of 
Outstanding

12/31/14

 
 
The annual payments to retire all general obligation long-term debt 
outstanding as of December 31, 2014 are as follows: 

 
Governmental

2015 $ 985,000    $ 268,200    $ 1,253,200 
2016 1,040,000 227,700    1,267,700 
2017 1,095,000 185,000    1,280,000 
2018 1,160,000 139,900    1,299,900 
2019 735,000    105,675    840,675    

2020 - 2023 3,155,000 192,525    3,347,525 

Total $ 8,170,000 $ 1,119,000 $ 9,289,000 

Principal Interest Total

 

C. Capital Lease Obligations 

Capital lease obligations represent lease agreements entered into for the 
financing of equipment acquisitions. These contracts are subject to can-
cellation should funds not be appropriated to meet payment obligations. 
Amounts are annually budgeted in the applicable function. 
 
Following are the capital lease balances at year-end: 
 
Equipment, due in annual installments the next of which is 
  $56,260 including interest, through November 2015 at 
  2.28% $ 55,006

Equipment, due in monthly installments the next of which is 
  $129 including interest, through July 2017 at 3.14% 3,821

Equipment, due in annual installments the next of which 
  is $4,552 including interest, through November 2015 at
  2.75% 4,430

Totals $ 63,257
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for capital lease obligations, 
including interest, are as follows: 
 

Year Ended
December 31 Principal Interest Total

2015 $ 60,879  $ 1,475 $ 62,354 
2016 1,488    53       1,541   
2017 890       9         899       

Totals $ 63,257  $ 1,537 $ 64,794 
 

14. Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Deferred inflows of resources are the acquisition of assets by the County that 
are applicable to future reporting periods. Deferred inflows of resources have 
a negative effect on net position, similar to liabilities. For 2014, deferred 
inflows of resources are comprised of revenues received in advance. 

15. Operating Leases 

The County leases office space and equipment annually. Future minimum 
rental payments are as follows: 
 

Year Ended Office
December 31 Space Rental Total

2015 $ 179,448 $ 11,440 $ 190,888 
2016 -       5,494   5,494      
2017 -       2,237   2,237      

Totals $ 179,448 $ 19,171 $ 198,619 

Equipment

 

16. Restricted Net Position 

The accompanying entity-wide financial statements report restricted net 
position when external constraints from grantors or contributors are placed 
on net position. 
 
Permanent fund restricted net position is segregated between nonexpendable 
and expendable. The nonexpendable portion represents the original restricted 
principal contribution, and the expendable represents accumulated earnings 
which are available to be spent based on donor restrictions. 
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17. Stabilization Reserves 

The County has established a goal of maintaining stabilization reserves 
equivalent to three months of current year budgeted appropriations. Usage of 
reserves can only be authorized if certain conditions are met. The intention 
was for such reserve funds to be classified as committed fund balance within 
the general fund, but the current technical classification under GASB State-
ment 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, 
is for the stabilization reserves to be included under unassigned funds. The 
2014 reserve amount, $19,673,889, comprises 78.9% of the unassigned fund 
balance total. If this amount was not included in unassigned fund balance, 
$5,262,628 would have been the ending unassigned funds total for 2014. 

18. Commitments and Contingencies 

Outstanding Lawsuits - There are several pending lawsuits in which the 
County is involved. The County follows the practice of recording liabilities 
resulting from claims and legal actions only when they become fixed or deter-
minable in amount. It is County management’s opinion that the County is 
not liable in these suits, and the County intends to contest the cases. The 
County’s management is also of the opinion that the potential future settle-
ment of such claims would not materially affect its financial statements taken 
as a whole. 
 
Grants - Amounts received are subject to later year’s review and adjustments 
by grantor agencies, principally the federal and state governments. At such 
time, any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may consti-
tute a liability of the County and the applicable funds. At December 31, 2014, 
the County believes that disallowed expenditures, if any, based on subsequent 
review will not have a material effect on any individual funds or the overall 
financial position of the County. 

19. Post-Employment Healthcare Insurance Benefits 

GASB Statement 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for 
Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions, requires governments to 
account for other post-employment benefits (OPEB), primarily healthcare, 
on an accrual basis rather than on a pay-as-you-go basis. The effect is the 
recognition of an actuarially required contribution as an expense on the 
Statement of Activities when a future retiree earns their post-employment 
benefits, rather than when they use their post-employment benefit. To the 
extent that an entity does not fund their actuarially required contribution, a 
post-employment benefit liability is recognized on the Statement of Net 
Position over time. 
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A. Plan Description 

The New Hampshire retirement system (Title VI, Medical Benefits 
Chapter 100-A:50) requires that political subdivisions in New Hampshire 
extend the same health insurance coverage to retirees as those offered 
to active employees, including spousal, and family coverage. Premium 
rates must be rated on a group basis including both employees and 
retirees. Premium charges payable by employees and by retirees are at 
the discretion of the subdivision. As of December 31, 2014 (the interim 
actuarial valuation date), 78 retirees and 472 active employees met the 
eligibility requirements. The plan does not issue a separate financial 
report. 

B. Benefits Provided 

The County provides medical, prescription drug, and mental health/ 
substance abuse to retirees and their covered dependents. All active 
employees who retire from the County and meet the eligibility criteria 
will receive these benefits. 

C. Funding Policy 

The contributions policy of the County is established by the County 
and state law. The contributions are based upon a pay-as-you-go 
financing plan. Retirees under age 65 may participate in these same 
coverage plans as active employees by paying 100% of the required 
premium. 

D. Annual OPEB Costs and Net OPEB Obligation 

The County of Rockingham’s fiscal 2014 annual OPEB expense is calcu-
lated based on the Annual Required Contribution of the Employer (ARC), 
an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of 
GASB Statement 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid 
on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the Normal Cost (NC) per year 
and amortize any unfunded actuarial liability (UAAL), or funding excess, 
over a period of thirty years. This calculation is performed using an open 
amortization and level service. The following table shows the components 
of the County’s annual OPEB cost for the year ending December 31, 
2014, the amount actually contributed to the plan, and the change in the 
County’s net OPEB obligation based on an interim actuarial valuation as 
of December 31, 2014. 
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Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $ 282,674  
Interest on net OPEB obligation 32,026     
Adjustment to ARC (46,302)   

    Annual OPEB cost 268,398  
Contributions made* (183,628) 

Increase in net OPEB obligation 84,770     
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year 800,656  

Net OPEB obligation - end of year $ 885,426  
 

 
*The County made no separately identified contributions. The excess 
morbidity cost for retirees under age 65 are implicit in the premiums paid 
for active lives. “Contributions made” is the estimated portion of premiums 
for retirees under age 65. 
 
The County’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost 
contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB obligation were as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year Ended

Percentage of 
OPEB

Cost Contributed

2014 $ 268,398 68.4% $ 885,426 
2013 $ 289,944 58.1% $ 800,656 
2012 $ 323,608 57.3% $ 679,180 
2011 $ 339,125 50.1% $ 540,869 
2010 $ 258,837 53.6% $ 371,739 
2009 $ 251,548 0.0% $ 251,548 

Annual OPEB
Cost

Net OPEB
Obligation

 

E. Funded Status and Funding Progress 

The funded status of the plan as of December 31, 2014, the date of the 
most recent interim actuarial valuation was as follows: 
 

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 2,660,000    
Actuarial value of plan assets -                

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) $ 2,660,000    

Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0%

Covered payroll (active plan members) $ 19,847,839 

UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 13.4%
 

 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of 
reported amount and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of 
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events far into the future. Examples included assumptions about future 
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts deter-
mined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required 
contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual 
results are compared with past expectations, and new estimates are 
made about the future. The Schedule of Funding Progress, presented as 
required supplementary information following the notes to the financial 
statements, presents multiyear trend information that shows whether the 
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative 
to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 

F. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the 
plan as understood by the County and the plan members and include the 
types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical 
pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the County and plan members 
to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include tech-
niques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term 
perspective of the calculations.  
 
In the December 31, 2014 interim actuarial valuation, the entry age normal 
level dollar method was used. The actuarial value of assets was not deter-
mined as the County has not advance funded its obligation. The actuarial 
assumptions included a 4.0% investment rate of return (net of administrative 
expenses), the anticipated long-term investment return on the County’s 
invested funds. Healthcare inflation is calculated based upon a secular 
trend of 8.5% grading to down to 5.0% over 8 years. UAAL is being 
amortized over a 30-year period (level dollar method, on an open basis) 
using a 4.0% interest rate discount factor. 

20. Pension Plan 

The County follows the provisions of GASB Statement 27, Accounting 
for Pensions for State and Local Government Employees, (as amended by 
GASB 50) with respect to the employees’ retirement funds. 

A. Plan Description 

The County contributes to the New Hampshire Retirement System (NHRS), 
a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered 
by the NHRS Board of Trustees. The plan provides service, disability, 
death and vested retirement allowances to plan members and beneficiar-
ies. Benefit provisions are established and may be amended by the New 
Hampshire State legislature. The NHRS issues a publicly available finan-
cial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 
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information for NHRS. That report may be obtained by writing to New 
Hampshire Retirement System, 54 Regional Drive, Concord, New 
Hampshire 03301. 

B. Funding Policy 

Covered public safety (Group II) and general employees (Group I) are 
required to contribute 11.55% or 7.0% of their covered salary, respec-
tively, and the County is required to contribute at an actuarially determined 
rate. The County’s contribution rates were 25.30% (Group II) and 10.77% 
(Group I) at December 31, 2014. Effective July 1, 2011, the County contri-
butes 100% of the employer cost for general employees and police 
employed by the County.  
 
Per RSA-100:16, plan member contribution rates are established and may 
be amended by the New Hampshire State legislature and employer contri-
bution rates are determined by the NHRS Board of Trustees based on an 
actuarial valuation. The County’s contributions to the NHRS for the years 
ending December 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, and 2011 were $3,177,658, 
$2,642,349, $2,675,847, and $2,886,088, respectively, which were equal 
to the required contributions for each year. 

21. Self-Insurance 

The County self-insures against claims for most health coverage, workers’ 
compensation and most employee dental coverage. Annual estimated require-
ments for claims are provided in the County’s annual operating budget.  
 
Health Insurance 
 
The County contracts with an insurance carrier for excess liability coverage 
and an insurance consultant for claims processing. Under the terms of its 
health insurance coverage for nonunion employees (and those of one union, 
Sheriff’s Supervisors), the County is liable for all medical claims up to 
$150,000 for a covered individual. Claims exceeding this amount are the 
responsibility of the stop loss (or reinsurance) carrier, which funds these 
specific claims in advance to the County, which then pays the claims to the 
providers. The claims liability represents an estimate of claims incurred but 
unpaid at year end, based on past historical costs and claims paid 
subsequent to year end. 
 
Dental Insurance 
 
The County does not contract with an insurance carrier for excess liability 
coverage. Under the terms of its dental insurance coverage, the County is 
liable for all dental claims up to an annual maximum of $1,000 per covered 
individual. Any claim amounts exceeding $1,000 maximum, are the respon-
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sibility of the covered plan participants. The claims liability represents an 
estimate of claims incurred but unpaid at year-end, based on past historical 
costs and claims paid subsequent to year-end. 
 
Workers’ Compensation 
 
The County contracts with an insurance consultant for claims processing of 
the County’s workers’ compensation policy, which has no excess liability cov-
erage for any employees. The workers’ compensation claims liability repre-
sents an estimate of future costs based on a historical analysis of similar 
claims for all employees excluding public safety. The County is unable to 
make any reasonable estimate of its liability for public safety employees.  
 
Changes in the aggregate liability for claims for the year ended December 31, 
2014 are as follows: 

Health Dental Total

Claims liability, beginning of year $ -             $ 17,006 $ 1,516,000 $ 1,533,006

Claims incurred/recognized
  in 2014 3,764,084 332,373 577,330 4,673,787

Claims paid in 2014 (3,465,328) (333,514) (505,626) (4,304,468)

Claims liability, end of year $ 298,756 $ 15,865 $ 1,587,704 $ 1,902,325

Compensation
Workers'

 

22. Risk Management 

The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage 
to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees, and 
natural disasters. The County is a member of a public entity risk pool for all 
general liability risks, property liability risks, and for the protection of assets. The 
County has established risk management fund types in accordance with GASB 
Statement 10, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Risk Financing and 
Related Insurance Issues, to account for and finance its uninsured risks of loss 
for health, dental, unemployment and workers compensation. Settled claims, if 
any, have not exceeded the County’s coverage in any of the past five years. 

23. Implementation of New GASB Standards 

The GASB has issued Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Pensions, which is required to be implemented in 2015. Management’s 
current assessment is that this pronouncement will have a significant impact 
on the County’s basic financial statements by recognizing as a liability and 
expense, the County’s applicable portion of the New Hampshire Retirement 
System’s actuarially accrued liability. 
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Actuarial UAAL as
Accrued a Percent-

Actuarial Liability Unfunded age of
Actuarial Value of (AAL) - AAL Funded Covered Covered
Valuation Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) [(b-a)/c]

12/31/14 -$      2,660$  2,660$  0.0% 19,848$ 13.4%

12/31/13 -$      2,878$  2,878$  0.0% 19,270$ 14.9%

12/31/11 -$      2,808$  2,808$  0.0% n/a n/a

12/31/09 -$      2,184$  2,184$  0.0% n/a n/a

See Independent Auditors' Report.

Other Post-Employment Benefits

ROCKINGHAM COUNTY, NEW HAMSPHIRE
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
December 31, 2014

(Unaudited)
(Amounts Expressed in Thousands)
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Total
Nursing
Home Living Inmate Inmate Deeds

Force Trust Chapel Fund Funds

Cash and short-term investments $ 69,682 $ -     $ -      $ -    $ -       $ -     $ -       $ 5,201 $ -      $ 74,883   
Restricted cash -      -     89,462 -    -       -     126,852 -   -      216,314 
Investments -      28,043 -      -    -       -     -       -   45,707 73,750   
Receivables:

Accounts, net -      -     45       -    39        -     -       -   -      84         
Due from other funds -      -     -      7,071 152,606 10,475 520      -   -      170,672 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 69,682 $ 28,043 $ 89,507 $ 7,071 $ 152,645 $ 10,475 $ 127,372 $ 5,201 $ 45,707 $ 535,703 

Liabilities:
Due to other funds $ -      $ 28,043 $ 14,489 $ -    $ -       $ -     $ -       $ -   $ 17,554 $ 60,086   

TOTAL LIABILITIES -      28,043 14,489 -    -       -     -       -   17,554 60,086   

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable -      -     -      -    -       -     -       -   28,153 28,153   
Restricted 69,682 -     75,018 7,071 152,645 10,475 127,372 5,201 -      447,464 

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 69,682 -     75,018 7,071 152,645 10,475 127,372 5,201 28,153 475,617 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES $ 69,682 $ 28,043 $ 89,507 $ 7,071 $ 152,645 $ 10,475 $ 127,372 $ 5,201 $ 45,707 $ 535,703 

See Independent Auditors' Report.

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

ASSETS

Governmental
Nonmajor

WF Sturtevant Permanent
Equipment MemorialCommissaryDonationsSpecial Account

ExpendableDrug Task

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

DECEMBER 31, 2014

Assisted
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Total
Nursing
Home Living Inmate Inmate Deeds

Force Trust Chapel Fund Funds

Revenues:
Charges for services:

County attorney $ -        $ -     $ -      $ -     $ -        $ -      $ -         $ -     $ -      $ -        
Deeds -        -     -      -     -        -      102,032  -     -      102,032 
Sheriff/dispatch/radio 123,598 -     -      -     -        -      -         -     -      123,598 
Corrections -        -     -      -     37,183  2,590   -         -     -      39,773   
Nursing home -        -     10,941 -     -        -      -         -     -      10,941   
Assisted living -        -     -      100    -        -      -         -     -      100       

Investment income 58         204    93       -     309       21       210        13      324      1,232     

Total Revenues 123,656 204    11,034 100    37,492  2,611   102,242  13      324      277,676 

Expenditures:
Current:

Sheriff/dispatch/radio 92,593  -     -      -     -        -      -         -     -      92,593

Total Expenditures 92,593  -     -      -     -        -      -         -     -      92,593

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures 31,063  204    11,034 100    37,492  2,611   102,242  13      324      185,083

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Transfers out -        (174)   (5,691)  -     (21,537) (1,392)  (180,000) -     -      (208,794)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -        (174)   (5,691)  -     (21,537) (1,392)  (180,000) -     -      (208,794)

Change in fund balance 31,063  30      5,343   100    15,955  1,219   (77,758)   13      324      (23,711)

Fund Equity, at Beginning of Year 38,619  (30)     69,675 6,971 136,690 9,256   205,130  5,188 27,829 499,328

Fund Equity, at End of Year $ 69,682  $ -     $ 75,018 $ 7,071 $ 152,645 $ 10,475 $ 127,372  $ 5,201 $ 28,153 $ 475,617

See Independent Auditors' Report.

Drug Task Expendable
Special Account Donations

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

Permanent Governmental
NonmajorAssisted

Commissary Equipment
WF Sturtevant

Memorial
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Governmental
Activities

Total
Workers' Compensated Internal

Health Dental Compensation Absences Service
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds

Current:
Cash and short-term investments $ 5,865,976 $ 212,261 $ 3,305,878 $ 2,145,252  $ 11,529,367  
Receivables:

Accounts 23,954 4,623     3,192 -           31,769        
Due from other governments -           -        121,461 -           121,461      

Due from other funds 1,142,570 241,621 108,929 134,706    1,627,826   
Prepaid expenses 99,524 4,424 21,125      -           125,073      

Total current assets 7,132,024 462,929 3,560,585 2,279,958  13,435,496  

TOTAL ASSETS 7,132,024 462,929 3,560,585 2,279,958  13,435,496  

OF RESOURCES

Liabilities
Current:

Accounts payable 98,549 13,344   49,828 18,076      179,797      
Due to other governments 1,617 -        -           -           1,617          
Due to other funds 2,633,905 133,571 192,968 724,990    3,685,434   
Incurred but not reported claims liability 298,756 15,865 1,587,704 -           1,902,325   
Current portion of noncurrent liabilities:

Compensated absences -           -        -           534,441    534,441      

Total current liabilities 3,032,827 162,780 1,830,500 1,277,507  6,303,614   

Noncurrent:
Compensated absences, 

net of current portion -           -        -           1,002,432  1,002,432   

Total noncurrent liabilities -           -        -           1,002,432  1,002,432   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,032,827 162,780 1,830,500 2,279,939  7,306,046   

Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,622 7,526 -           -           9,148          

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED
INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 3,034,449 170,306 1,830,500 2,279,939  7,315,194   

Unrestricted 4,097,575 292,623 1,730,085 19            6,120,302   

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 4,097,575 $ 292,623 $ 1,730,085 $ 19            $ 6,120,302   

See Independent Auditors' Report.

NET POSITION

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS

DECEMBER 31, 2014
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Governmental
Activities

Total
Workers' Compensated Internal

Health Dental Compensation Absences Service
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund

Operating Revenues:
Employee and employer contributions $ 7,892,272 $ 402,192 $ 1,317,122 $ 391,009 $ 10,002,595 

Total Operating Revenues 7,892,272 402,192 1,317,122 391,009    10,002,595 

Operating Expenses:
Employee benefits 6,522,871 401,918 815,572 1,000,074 8,740,435   

Total Operating Expenses 6,522,871 401,918 815,572    1,000,074 8,740,435   

Operating Income (Loss) 1,369,401 274       501,550    (609,065)   1,262,160   

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Investment income -           24 263 10 297            
Miscellaneous (75,998)     -        (29,368)     9              (105,357)     

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses), Net (75,998)     24         (29,105)     19            (105,060)     

Income (Loss) Before Transfers 1,293,403 298       472,445    (609,046)   1,157,100   

Transfers:
Transfers in 2,804,172 -        -           609,065    3,413,237   

Change in Net Position 4,097,575 298       472,445    19            4,570,337   

Net Position at Beginning of Year -           292,325 1,257,640 -           1,549,965   

Net Position at End of Year $ 4,097,575 $ 292,623 $ 1,730,085 $ 19            $ 6,120,302   

See Independent Auditors' Report.

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014
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Governmental
Activities

Total
Workers' Compensated Internal

Health Dental Compensation Absences Service
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Receipts from users $ 7,868,318  $ 402,363  $ 1,323,568 $ 391,009    $ 9,985,258   
Payments to providers (6,622,395) (401,467) (836,697)   -           (7,860,559)  
Payments to employees -            -         -           (1,000,074) (1,000,074)  
Other receipts (payments) 324,546     (12,865)   21,437      1,554,958  1,888,076   

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities 1,570,469  (11,969)   508,308    945,893    3,012,701   

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:
Net change in due to/from other funds 1,491,335  41,190    28,423      590,284    2,151,232   
Transfers in from other funds 2,804,172  -         -           609,065    3,413,237   

Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities 4,295,507  41,190    28,423      1,199,349  5,564,469   

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Investment income -            24          263          10            297            

Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities -            24          263          10            297            

Net Change in Cash and Short-Term Investments 5,865,976  29,245    536,994    2,145,252  8,577,467   

Cash and Short-Term Investments, Beginning of Year -            183,016  2,768,884 -           2,951,900   

Cash and Short-Term Investments, End of Year $ 5,865,976  $ 212,261  $ 3,305,878 $ 2,145,252  $ 11,529,367 

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash 
Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities:

Operating income (loss) $ 1,369,401  $ 274        $ 501,550    $ (609,065)   $ 1,262,160   
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) (75,998)      -         (29,368)     9              (105,357)    
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (23,954)      171        6,446        -           (17,337)      
Due from other governments -            -         (51,883)     -           (51,883)      
Prepaid expenses (99,524)      451        (21,125)     -           (120,198)    
Accounts payable 98,549       (14,144)   30,984      18,076      133,465     
Due to other governments 1,617        -         -           -           1,617         
Incurred but not reported claims liability 298,756     (1,141)     71,704      -           369,319     
Accrued compensated absences -            -         -           1,536,873  1,536,873   
Deferred revenue 1,622        2,420      -           -           4,042         

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities $ 1,570,469  $ (11,969)   $ 508,308    $ 945,893    $ 3,012,701   

See Independent Auditors' Report.

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014
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Total
Nursing Home Assisted Living Agency

Inmates Residents Security Deposits Funds

Cash and short-term investments $ 161,794 $ 116,580 $ 116,097 $ 394,471
Accounts receivable -         25          -        25

Total Assets $ 161,794 $ 116,605 $ 116,097 $ 394,496 

Accounts payable $ -         $ 397 $ -        $ 397        
Due to other funds 113,134 10,423 47,918 171,475
Due to specific individuals 48,659 105,786 68,179 222,624

Total Liabilities $ 161,793 $ 116,606 $ 116,097 $ 394,496 

See Independent Auditors' Report.

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2014
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